Studies of Carbohydrate Structure, Properties and Interactions by NMR Spectroscopy

Eric Morssing Vilén

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Chemistry Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2013

Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2013:75

Cover: 3D representation of a κ/μ -hybrid-carrageenan hexasaccharide superimposed on a part of the TOCSY spectrum of the hexasaccharide. The crosspeaks represent the chemical exchange visualized in the figure by the centremost dashed blue line. The other two dashed blue lines represent transient hydrogen bonding interactions.

(Image: Eric Morssing Vilén)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-7888-1 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-7889-8 © 2013 Eric Morssing Vilén, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2013

Studies of Carbohydrate Structure, Properties and Interactions by NMR Spectroscopy.

Abstract

In this thesis the structure, properties and interactions of different types of carbohydrates were investigated by NMR spectroscopy.

The structures of kappa- (κ) and kappa/mu- (κ/μ) carrageenan oligosaccharides were analyzed by studying the hydroxy protons. It was shown that a hydrogen bonding interaction is present across the 1 \rightarrow 4 glycosidic linkages of μ -carrabiose in the $\kappa\mu\kappa$ hexa- and $\kappa\mu\mu\kappa$ octasaccharides. The occurrence of hydrogen bonding in κ/μ carrageenan oligosaccharides may suggest that μ -carrabiose units, mostly found in the non-helicoidal regions of κ -carrageenans have an underestimated role in the structural organization of the κ -carrageenan gel network.

Hydroxy proton NMR was also used to study the effect of trehalose on the hydration and hydrogen bonding in lactose in aqueous solutions. The small effects of trehalose on the hydration and hydrogen bonding interaction in lactose were very similar to those found for sucrose. The results suggested that, at concentrations below 40% (w/w), it is the concentration of hydroxy groups that governs sugar-sugar and sugar-water interactions rather than the type of sugar.

A method using diffusion-edited NMR spectroscopy was developed for solvent suppression when determining the mannuronic (M) to guluronic (M) acid ratio in alginate polysaccharides. The method could be employed to determine the M/G-ratio at temperatures below 50 °C. Through all of the work in the thesis diffusion-edited NMR experiments also proved to be practical for studies of biomolecules, to for example selectively remove interfering signals from buffer to enable the interpretation of sample signals.

The activities and specificities of four different glycosaminoglycan (GAG) sulfatases from the human gut commensal *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron* were determined. One of the sulfatases, BT3349, was found to be the first bacterial GAG endolytic-*O*-sulfatase, with chondroitin specific GalNAc-4-*O*-sulfatase activity. The other three enzymes were shown to possess strictly exolytic activity, BT3333 as a GalNAc-6-*O*-sulfatase, BT4656 as a GlcNAc-6-*O*-sulfatase and the third one, BT1596, as a Δ -4-hexuronate-2-*O*-sulfatase.

Keywords: NMR, carbohydrate, polysaccharide, oligosaccharide, sugar, analysis, structure, interaction, diffusion, hydroxy proton.

Author's address: Eric Morssing Vilén, SLU, Department of Chemistry, P.O. Box 7015, 750 07 Uppsala, Sweden *E-mail:* eric.morssing.vilen@slu.se

Dedication

Till Tereza

The ability to think differently today than yesterday is what separates the wise from the stubborn. John Steinbeck

Contents

List of Publications 6			
Abbr	reviations	9	
1	Introduction	11	
1.1	PolyModE	11	
1.2	Carbohydrates	12	
	1.2.1 Carrageenans	14	
	1.2.2 Alginates	17	
	1.2.3 Glycosaminoglycans	19	
2	NMR Spectroscopy	23	
2.1	NMR Spectroscopy and Carbohydrate Analysis	24	
	2.1.1 General Techniques and Experiments	24	
2.2	Hydroxy Protons and NMR Spectroscopy	26	
	2.2.1 Sample Preparation	27	
	2.2.2 Suppression of the Water Signal	28	
	2.2.3 Hydroxy Proton NMR Parameters	29	
2.3	Diffusion and NMR Spectroscopy	30	
2.4	Saturation Transfer Difference NMR Spectroscopy	32	
2.5	Specific Aims	34	
3	Results and Discussion	35	
3.1	Paper I: NMR Study on Hydroxy Protons of $\kappa\text{-}$ and $\kappa\text{-}/\mu\text{-}Hybrid$		
	Carrageenan Oligosaccharides: Experimental Evidence of Hydrogen		
	Bonding and Chemical Exchange Interactions in κ/μ Oligosaccharides 35		
3.2	Paper II: Application of Diffusion-Edited NMR Spectroscopy for Se	lective	
	Composition in Alginates	11	
33	Paper III: The First Bacterial Glycosaminoglycan Endosulfatase R	n r eveale	
5.5	Novel Metabolic Pathways in the Prominent Human Gut Symbiont		
	Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron	46	
34	Paper IV: NMR Study on the Interaction of Trebalose With Lactose	e and	
0.1	its Effect on the Hydrogen Bond Interaction in Lactose	54	
4	Concluding Remarks and Further Perspectives	61	
Refe	rences	63	
Ackr	nowledgements	77	
	-		

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Morssing Vilén, E., Lundqvist, L.C.E., Jouanneau, D., Helbert, W., Sandstöm, C., (2010). NMR study on hydroxy protons of κ- and κ-/μhybrid carrageenan oligosaccharides: Experimental evidence of hydrogen bonding and chemical exchange interactions in κ/μ oligosaccharides. *Biomacromolecules* 11(12), 3487-3494.
- II Morssing Vilén, E., Klinger, M., Sandström, C., (2011). Application of diffusion-edited NMR spectroscopy for selective suppression of water signal in the determination of monomer composition in alginates. *Magnetic Resonance in Chemistry* 49(9), 584-591.
- III Ulmer, J., Morssing Vilén, E., Babu Namburi, R., Benjdia, A., Beneteau, J., Malleron, A., Bonnaffé, D., Driguez, P.A., Descroix, K., Lassalle, G., Le Narvor, C., Sandström, C., Spillmann, D., Berteau, O., The first bacterial glycosaminoglycan endosulfatase reveals novel metabolic pathways in the prominent human gut symbiont *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron*. Manuscript to be submitted to *Journal of Biological Chemistry*.
- IV Morssing Vilén, E., Sandström, C., (2013). NMR study on the interaction of trehalose with lactose and its effect on the hydrogen bond interaction in lactose. *Molecules* 18(8), 9735-9754.

Papers I, II and IV are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

Work not included in this thesis:

V Morssing Vilén, E., Kaur, M., Moerschbacher, B., Sandstöm, C., Characterization of the interaction between chitin and chitin binding proteins, BtCBP and BliCBP from *Bacillus thuringiensis* and *Bacillus licheniformis* by SEM, FTIR and ¹³C cross polarization MAS NMR. Manuscript. The contribution of Eric Morssing Vilén to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Planning and discussion of project together with co-authors. Majority of planning and execution of experimental work. Majority of the data analysis and the writing.
- II Planning and discussion of project together with co-authors. Planning and execution of experimental work. Data analysis and writing of manuscript.
- III Discussion of project with Olivier Berteau, Jonathan Ulmer and Corine Sandström. Planning and execution of all NMR-related experimental work. Data analysis and writing of NMR-related results and discussion in the manuscript.
- IV Initiation and planning of project together with Corine Sandström. Planning and execution of all experimental work. Data analysis and writing of manuscript.

Abbreviations

BPP-LED	Bipolar gradient Pulse Pair Longitudinal Eddy current Delay
COSY	COrrelation SpectroscopY
CP-MAS	Cross Polarization Magic-Angle Spinning
CS	Chondroitin Sulfate
DOSY	Diffusion Ordered SpectroscopY
DS	Dermatan Sulfate
G	Guluronic acid in alginate
GAG	GlycosAminoGlycan
Gal	Galactose
GalNAc	<i>N</i> -acetylgalactosamine
Glc	Glucose
GlcA	Glucuronic Acid
GlcNAc	<i>N</i> -acetylglucosamine
HA	Hyaluronic Acid
HMBC	Heteronuclear Multiple Bond Correlation
HMW	High Molecular Weight
HR-MAS	High Resolution Magic-Angle Spinning
HS	Heparin/heparan Sulfate
HSQC	Heteronuclear Single Quantum Coherence
IdoA	Iduronic Acid
KS	Keratan Sulfate
LMW	Low Molecular Weight
М	Mannuronic acid in alginate
M/G-ratio	Mannuronic acid/Guluronic acid - ratio
MM	Molecular Mechanics
NMR	Nuclear Magnetic Resonance
NOE	Nuclear Overhauser Effect
NOESY	Nuclear Overhauser Effect SpectroscopY
PFG-NMR	Pulsed Field Gradient NMR

pNP-S	Para-Nitro-PhenolSulfate
ROE	Rotating frame nuclear Overhauser Effect
ROESY	Rotating frame nuclear Overhauser Effect SpectroscopY
SD	Standard Deviation
STD NMR	Saturation Transfer Difference NMR
TOCSY	TOtal Correlation SpectroscopY

1 Introduction

The work in this thesis centers on carbohydrates and the use of nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy to study their structures and properties as well as their interactions with other carbohydrates or biomolecules such as proteins. Carbohydrates of different sizes and classes have been investigated, from common naturally occurring disaccharides through synthesized oligosaccharides up to large polysaccharides, of both plant and animal origin. Most of the work has been done within the framework of the European Union project PolyModE (POLYsaccharide MODifying Enzymes).



Figure 1. The PolyModE project official logotype and project details.

1.1 PolyModE

The overall goal of the PolyModE project was to identify novel polysaccharide modifying enzymes to optimize the potential of hydrocolloids for food and medical applications. The project was concentrated on six polysaccharide classes with high potential for biological and biotechnological applications: alginates, carrageenans, chitosans, glycosaminoglycans (GAGs), pectins and xanthan gums. These six polysaccharides are all of great commercial interest with high current or predicted market value in the multi-billion dollar range. Some of these polysaccharides with the most useful properties are often produced by a few very specific organisms, so that their supply is extremely limited. Their amounts are also continuously reduced due to overutilization and climate changes.

The aim was thus to identify, analyze and then produce enzymes that can be used to increase production of the polysaccharides with the best properties but that are limited in natural supply. Further the identification of novel enzymes that modify polysaccharides in a non-random manner would also produce polysaccharides with new properties and thereby new applications. The main focus was on finding enzymes for modification of substitution patterns and sequence specific depolymerizing enzymes.

A part of the project was dedicated to generic techniques for analysis of the activity and specificity of the new enzymes and to determine the structures and properties of the precursors and of the modified oligo- and polysaccharides. The research in this thesis, within the PolyModE project, has been focused on structural analysis of carrageenans, alginates and GAGs.

Besides the increased availability of raw materials and the generation of novel compounds with new and improved properties the identification of polysaccharide modifying enzymes and the development of methods for their use in production could lead to several advantages compared to current methods of production: reduction of production costs, reduction of energy input and reduction of potentially harmful wastes (PolyModE, 2013).

1.2 Carbohydrates

Carbohydrates together with proteins, nucleic acids and lipids constitute the four major classes of biomolecules. Of these four, carbohydrates are by far the most abundant. Carbohydrates are ubiquitous and serve for example as nutrients, play important roles in cellular recognition, bacterial and viral infections and they are also important as structural material in cell walls and insect and shell fish exoskeletons (Lindhorst, 2007).

Carbohydrates are very diverse and can exist as mono-, oligo- and polysaccharides. Monosaccharides are the smallest carbohydrate building blocks and exist as aldoses and ketoses. A monosaccharide can be found in the two different enantiomeric forms D and L, based on the absolute configuration at the highest numbered chiral center in relation to D-glyceraldehyde. Most common are monosaccharides with five (pentose) or six (hexose) carbon atoms and they are in an equilibrium between an open form and cyclic hemiacetals, formed between the carbonyl group and the hydroxy group on carbon 4 or 5, yielding furanoses and pyranoses respectively. Upon cyclization a new stereogenic center is formed, called the anomeric center. The hydroxy group at the anomeric center can be in either β or α position and because of the equilibrium between the open and closed forms the configurations can interchange. The 6-membered ring of aldohexose monosaccharides has two

distinct forms of the most common conformation, the chair conformation. These two forms are ${}^{4}C_{1}$ and ${}^{1}C_{4}$ which indicate whether carbon-1 and carbon-4 are above or below the reference plane of the chair conformation (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Selected pyranose conformations. Two chair conformations, one half-chair, one boat and one skew-boat conformation.

Different hexoses energetically favor the two forms differently depending on the number of non-bonded interactions and the number of exo-cyclic groups in equatorial versus axial positions (Kamerling et al., 2007). These different preferences for the two forms can also give implications on a macromolecular organizational level of polysaccharides, *i.e.* it can affect helix forming ability and in turn also gelling behavior (Draget et al., 2002; van de Velde & De Ruiter, 2002; van de Velde et al., 2002). In for example alginates the two constituent monosaccharides β -D-mannuronic acid and α -L-guluronic acid have the ${}^{4}C_{1}$ and ${}^{1}C_{4}$ conformations respectively leading to different chain conformations and gelling behavior. Other important conformations of pyranoses are the half-chair (H), boat (B) and skew (S) conformations (Figure 2). Some monosaccharides have more than two low energy conformations that can be observed by NMR in solution. For example iduronic acid have three such conformations, these are ${}^{1}C_{4}$, ${}^{2}S_{0}$ and ${}^{4}C_{1}$. When internally positioned in oligomeric or polymeric GAGs the ${}^{1}C_{4}$ and ${}^{2}S_{0}$ conformations are predominant (Ferro et al., 1990).

Disaccharides are dimers of monosaccharides that are formed when the hemiacetal moiety of one monomer reacts with any hydroxy group of another monomer forming an acetal. The bond linking the two sugars is called a glycosidic bond. Disaccharides can be reducing or non-reducing, depending on if they have a free hydroxy group on the anomeric carbon or not. Two of the most well-known disaccharides are sucrose and lactose. Sucrose and lactose are also known to protect and stabilize proteins and other biostructures when they are for example dried or frozen (Crowe *et al.*, 1998; Crowe *et al.*, 1996). Another disaccharide usually considered superior to sucrose and lactose in this respect is trehalose (Green & Angell, 1989). Many draught resistant, anhydrobiotic, organisms are known to accumulate trehalose to protect their biostructures (Crowe *et al.*, 1998). Trehalose and sucrose are non-reducing disaccharides and lactose is reducing, all with the same molecular formula $(C_{12}H_{22}O_{11})$. They are comprised of α -D-glucopyranosyl-(1 \leftrightarrow 1)- α -Dglucopyranoside, α -D-glucopyranosyl-(1 \leftrightarrow 2)- β -D-fructofuranoside and β -Dgalactopyranosyl-(1 \rightarrow 4)-D-glucopyranose respectively (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Schematic structures of (a) trehalose, (b) lactose and (c) sucrose.

When two to ten monosaccharides are linked together via glycosidic bonds they are termed oligosaccharides, larger structures are polysaccharides (Kamerling *et al.*, 2007). Around $4x10^{11}$ tons of carbohydrates are biosynthesized in nature each year, the majority of this is produced as polysaccharides. The best known polysaccharides are the structural polysaccharides cellulose and chitin and the energy storage polysaccharides starch and glycogen (Lindhorst, 2007).

The aforementioned diversity of carbohydrates stems from the number of possible combinations of monosaccharide units and linkages between them. The monosaccharides units can differ in number and position of substituents, absolute configuration (D- or L-), anomeric configurations (α or β) and ring forms (pyranosides, furanosides). In addition, the carbohydrates can form both linear and branched oligomers and polymers.

1.2.1 Carrageenans

Carrageenan is the generic name for a family of linear sulfated galactans found as structural polysaccharides in red algae (*Rhodophyceae*). They are composed of (1–3) linked β -D-galactopyranose (G) and (1–4) linked α -D-galactopyranose (D) which forms the basic repeating unit of carrageenans. There are six major classes of carrageenans; mu (μ), kappa (κ), nu (ν), iota (ι), lambda (λ) and theta (θ). Different species of algae produce different types of carrageenan, it can also depend on season of harvest and the life cycle stage of the algae (Rinaudo, 2008; van de Velde & De Ruiter, 2002; van de Velde *et al.*, 2002). The classification divides the carrageenans into groups depending on the occurrence of sulfate groups and 3,6-anhydro bridges in the main repeating dimeric units (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Schematic representation of the different dimeric units in carrageenan. The nomenclature developed by Knutsen *et al.* (1994) can be found for all monomeric units.

 μ , v and λ are the biological precursors of κ, ι, and θ respectively. The different classes represent idealized dimeric structures, the polysaccharides themselves are not totally homogenous (van de Velde *et al.*, 2002). A simple nomenclature to describe the complex structures was developed by Knutsen *et al.* (Knutsen *et al.*, 1994) where G denotes a (1–3) linked β-D-galactose and D a (1–4) linked α-D-galactose. A represents the existence of a 3,6-anhydro bridge and S preceded by a number designates the position of sulfation. Only the (1–4) linked α-D-galactose units can have an anhydrobridge (Figure 4). The dimeric units in the different carrageenans are called carrabiose or neocarrabiose, depending on whether there is a G or a D residue in the reducing end (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Examples of carrabiose and neocarrabiose dimeric structures. a) μ - β -neocarrabiose, b) κ - β -neocarrabiose, c) μ - α -carrabiose and d) κ - α -carrabiose.

The commercially most important carrageenans are ι , κ and λ , where the two former are gelling agents and the latter is a viscosity enhancer (van de Velde *et al.*, 2002). Carrageenans are used in, for example, frozen desserts, jellies, cottage cheese and sauces. Other areas of use are pharmaceutical products and lubricants for the mining industry. The size of commercial carrageenans is usually in the range of 400–600 kDa, with a lower limit of use in food products of 100 kDa (van de Velde & De Ruiter, 2002).

The carrageenan polysaccharides are usually extracted from the algae either through hot water or hot alkaline extraction. With alkaline extraction there is a simultaneous conversion of μ , v and λ into the gelling anhydro bridge forms κ , t and θ (van de Velde *et al.*, 2002). The mechanisms of gelling differ slightly between the different types of carrageenan. It is considered that carrageenan gelling starts with that the polysaccharide chains transform from random coil structures into helices (double or single) that then aggregate into gels. The exact mechanisms for this is however not yet fully understood (Michel *et al.*, 2006), while it is known that the ionic strength and the salts in solution greatly affect the gelling properties of carrageenans. The precursor carrageenans μ , v and λ have reduced, or no, gelling ability due to the ⁴C₁ conformation of the Dresidues which introduce kinks in the polysaccharide chain and hinders helix formation which in turn impedes gelling (van de Velde *et al.*, 2002) (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Schematic representation of how the differences in polysaccharide chain conformation affect helix formation and gelling behavior of κ - and μ -carrageenan.

Structural analysis of carrageenans is important because of the different traits of the different types; the right type needs to be used for the right application. Interactions and gelling mechanisms are also important to study, to know how to develop carrageenans with new properties for new applications, and to correlate structures and functions (van de Velde et al., 2002). Enzymes active on carrageenans can greatly aid in the analysis of the polysaccharide. Carrageenases can be used to depolymerize the polysaccharide at defined positions. The resulting oligosaccharides can then be characterized by analytical methods (Jouanneau et al., 2010; Guibet et al., 2006). Sulfatases can be used to control and analyze sulfation and thus gelling behavior (Prechoux et al., 2013). Sulfurylases can introduce the anhydro bridge in D-residues in a specific manner without the depolymerizing side effects of alkali treatment (Genicot-Joncour et al., 2009). Biological studies of carrageenans are important because in the past both positive and negative health effects have been associated with carrageenans (Campo et al., 2009). Antiviral and antitumor activities have been found (Zhou et al., 2004; Carlucci et al., 1999) but studies also show that LMW oligomeric carrageenans can induce inflammation, intestinal ulcerations and neoplasms (Tobacman, 2001).

1.2.2 Alginates

Alginate is a polysaccharide that is found in brown seaweeds (*Phaeophyceae*) and two families of bacteria, *Pseudomonadaceae* and *Azotobacteraceae*. In algae alginate is a cell wall structural component, in *Azotobacter* it is a cell wall component of vegetative capsules and dormant cysts and in *Pseudomonas* it is an exopolysaccharide utilized in biofilms. Alginate is a linear copolymer that consists of $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ linked β -D-mannuronic acid (M) and α -L-guluronic acid (G). In the polysaccharide the M and G residues are arranged in three different ways, either as blocks of M or G or alternating M and G (Figure 7) (Haug *et al.*, 1966).



Figure 7. Schematic structure of alginate and a representation of possible block-structures.

The arrangement of M and G residues vary with the seaweed source and harvesting season (Draget et al., 2002). Alginates are easily soluble in water, forming gels or viscous solutions, in the presence of M^{2+} counter ions. They have numerous applications in the food industry to ensure proper texture, density and stability in dairy products, baked goods and restructured food stuffs (Draget et al., 2006). Alginates are biocompatible making them suitable for use in biomedical and pharmaceutical areas such as absorbent in wound dressings and molds in dentistry (Rinaudo, 2008). Different areas of use require different properties of the alginate and its gelling. The physical properties of alginates are correlated to the monomeric composition or M/Gratio, the M and G distribution and the molecular weight (Stokke et al., 1991; Haug et al., 1967b). Alginates of high G-block content gives strong gels in presence of Ca^{2+} ions where the alginates form junction zones by binding to the Ca^{2+} ions, the egg box model (Figure 8) (Grant *et al.*, 1973). Alginates with high M-block or alternating structure content form more disordered conformations and hence more flexible gels. Commercial alginates vary greatly in size, between 32 and 400 kDa, depending on the application, generally higher molecular weight alginates give stronger gels (Rinaudo, 2008). Alginate with high G content is an excellent replacement for gelatin in many restructured foodstuffs, because of its plant rather than animal origin.



Figure 8. Left: Schematic representation of guluronic acid (G) binding to Ca^{2+} in the egg-box model. Right: Overview of the egg-box model. Black circles represent Ca^{2+} ions and solid lines the alginate polymer.

Alginates with M/G-ratios of 0.5–0.7 are in high demand from industry but can be difficult to obtain from natural sources since many seaweed species only produce alginates with M/G-ratios around 1.2–1.6. Manipulating the M/G-ratio of alginates can be done chemically but requires high temperatures or catalysts that yield depolymerized or catalyst contaminated alginates. Enzymatic alteration of M/G-ratios is also possible using C5-epimerases that catalyze the conversion of M into G in the alginate polymer (Draget *et al.*, 2006; Valla *et* *al.*, 2001; Ertesvåg *et al.*, 1999). Non-chemical and sequence specific depolymerization of alginates can be achieved with lyases (Thomas *et al.*, 2013; Aarstad *et al.*, 2012; Lundqvist *et al.*, 2012; Ostgaard *et al.*, 1993; Romeo & Preston, 1986). C5-epimerases used in combination with chemical hydrolysis or sequence specific alginate lyases can generate the substrate specificity of the epimerase and also, in the latter case, sequence specific oligomers. Since alginates from different algal sources have different M/G-ratios and show very different properties it is important to be able to determine this ratio accurately, to ensure proper characterization of the alginate. This is usually done by NMR (Grasdalen, 1983; Grasdalen *et al.*, 1981; Grasdalen *et al.*, 1979a; Grasdalen *et al.*, 1977; Penman & Sanderso.Gr, 1972) but IR, near-IR and Raman spectroscopy are also used (Salomonsen *et al.*, 2008; Sakugawa *et al.*, 2004; Mackie, 1971).

1.2.3 Glycosaminoglycans

Glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) are a large group of heterogeneous, linear, negatively charged polysaccharides that can be divided into five different subfamilies: chondroitin, heparin/heparan sulfates, dermatan, keratan and hvaluronic acid. Of those five groups the first four are sulfated proteoglycans whereas hyaluronic acid is non-sulfated and not attached to any protein. All the GAGs have different disaccharide repeating units which both within and between the groups can differ in sulfation pattern, meaning that GAGs potentially are more information dense than DNA or proteins (Sasisekharan et al., 2006). The heparin and heparan sulfate (HS) repeating disaccharide unit is $(\rightarrow 4)\alpha$ -L-IdoA/ β -D-GlcA(1 $\rightarrow 4$) α -D-GlcN(1 \rightarrow) while chondroitin sulfate (CS) consists of $(\rightarrow 4)\beta$ -D-GlcA $(1\rightarrow 3)\beta$ -D-GalNAc $(1\rightarrow)$. The basic building block of dermatan sulfate (DS), which is similar to chondroitin, is made of $(\rightarrow 4)\alpha$ -L-IdoA($1 \rightarrow 3$)B-D-GalNAc($1 \rightarrow$). Keratan sulfate (KS) lacks any hexuronic acid and consists of $(\rightarrow 3)\beta$ -D-Gal $(1\rightarrow 4)\beta$ -D-GlcNAc $(1\rightarrow)$. The fully unsulfated GAG hyaluronic acid (HA) has the repeating unit; $(\rightarrow 4)\beta$ -D-GlcA $(1\rightarrow 3)\beta$ -D-GlcNAc($1 \rightarrow$). For a detailed view, and possible sulfation patterns, of the different GAGs see figure 9.



Figure 9. Schematic representation of GAG structures. Sulfate groups can be present at all or some of the specified positions.

GAGs are present in all animals (metazoan) and in some bacteria (DeAngelis, 2012). In vertebrates they possess structural (connective tissue such as skin, cartilage, epithelia etc.) and metabolic functions (regulation of cell growth, anti-thrombotic effects, receptor and co-receptor functions). The specific functions vary between the different classes of GAGs (DeAngelis, 2012; Wight, 1999). GAGs are essential and malfunctions in their biosynthesis or regulation can result in a number of diseases such as atherosclerosis, cancer and Alzheimer's disease (Wight, 1999). HA is extensively used in the cosmetics and medical industry, CS is emerging as a valuable nutraceutic and LMW heparins are used for thrombosis treatment.

The study of GAGs is a challenge. Their inherent heterogeneity in both chain length and sulfation, partly a result of their non-template driven biosynthesis, makes it difficult to both isolate and characterize different structures. Structural analysis of GAGs have progressed a lot in recent years due to great efforts in the development of enzymatic tools for specific depolymerization and modification of GAGs as well as in the development of analytical tools and methods (Sasisekharan *et al.*, 2006).

Important GAG modifying enzymes that can be used for structural analysis or chemo-enzymatic synthesis of GAGs are sulfatases, sulfotransferases and glycosidases. The biological properties of GAGs, such as heparin, are correlated to their structure and sulfation pattern. Identification of new enzymes with the ability to add or remove sulfate groups at specific positions in a specific residue in a GAG chain will allow in conjunction with glycosidases to produce GAGs of defined sizes and with a defined substitution pattern. Enzymatically tailored GAGs are of great value for structure-function studies or for therapeutic purposes since synthesis of GAGs is laborious and difficult and extraction of GAGs from animal sources generally produce small amounts of heterogenic GAG mixtures (DeAngelis et al., 2013). The ability to tailor or structurally characterize GAGs in vitro is expected to grow, with the help of specific sulfatases, increasing our ability to study structure-function relationships in detail. It will also help in the production of more specific, more functional and potentially novel GAG structures and therapeutics such as heparin-drugs (DeAngelis et al., 2013; Pempe et al., 2012).

2 NMR Spectroscopy

NMR is today an indispensable analytical tool for many chemists, physicists and biochemists. It all started in the 1940s when the groups of Bloch and Purcell observed nuclear magnetic resonance signals for the first time, in water and paraffin respectively (Bloch *et al.*, 1946; Purcell *et al.*, 1946). The first NMR spectrum that could characterize an organic molecule, ethanol, was obtained in 1951 (Arnold *et al.*, 1951). Since then countless structures, of small, large, simple and complicated molecules have been analyzed and determined, biomolecular interactions have been studied and mapped and NMR spectroscopy is still developing.

The basis of NMR spectroscopy arises from the fact that atomic nuclei, for example ¹H, with an angular momentum (P) generate a small magnetic field and thus possess a magnetic moment (μ). The angular momentum can be quantized and given an angular momentum quantum number, I, frequently called spin quantum number or spin. The spin and the magnetic moment are related through the gyromagnetic ratio (γ). The gyromagnetic ratio is a constant for each isotope of each element.

Nuclei for which the spin quantum number is non-zero are NMR active and can in principle be studied by NMR spectroscopy. Nuclei with an odd mass or atomic number have non-zero spin quantum numbers. For a $I = \frac{1}{2}$ nucleus, like ¹H, placed in a strong static magnetic field the magnetic moment will align parallel (low energy) or anti-parallel (high energy) to the applied magnetic field, yielding two energy levels. If the nuclei are then subjected to radiofrequency radiation of the proper frequency they will absorb the energy and transfer spins from the lower to the higher energy level. When the excess energy is dissipated a signal can be observed. The frequency of absorption is characteristic of the type of nuclei (¹H or ¹³C etc.) and also depend on the applied static magnetic field and the chemical environment of the nuclei. The difference between resonance frequencies of nuclei in a molecule are very

small and are expressed as the chemical shift (δ), in ppm, compared to a reference compound. Homogeneity of the static magnetic field is important. Small differences in resonance frequencies can be obscured by linebroadening caused by magnetic field inhomogeneity since the resonance frequency of a nucleus is also dependent on its spatial location in an inhomogeneous magnetic field. (Keeler, 2011; Lambert & Mazzola, 2004; Friebolin, 1991). The dependence of the resonance frequency on spatial location in an inhomogeneous magnetic field can be exploited in the measurement of self-diffusion coefficients by NMR (Stejskal & Tanner, 1965).

2.1 NMR Spectroscopy and Carbohydrate Analysis

The study of carbohydrates by NMR spectroscopy can involve structure determination, conformational analysis and determination of interactions between carbohydrates or between carbohydrates and other biomolecules (Widmalm, 2013).

2.1.1 General Techniques and Experiments

Carbohydrates are a group of compounds with vast structural and chemical diversity but with a limited chemical shift dispersion in NMR spectra which makes their study by NMR challenging and intriguing.

The assignments of ¹H and ¹³C resonances to their corresponding protons and carbon atoms are usually achieved using a combination of 1D and 2D NMR experiments such as homonuclear ¹H-¹H COSY, ¹H-¹H TOCSY, and ¹H-¹H NOESY or ¹H-¹H ROESY experiments and heteronuclear ¹H-¹³C HSQC, ¹H-¹³C HMBC and ¹H-¹³C HSQC-TOCSY.

¹H-1D experiments are usually the starting point of the analysis. These experiments give plenty of information despite that most resonances are found in the crowded region between ~3.4 and ~4.0 ppm. Well resolved signals are usually the anomeric protons (4.4–5.5 ppm) and methyl or acetyl protons (~1.2 and ~2 ppm respectively).

The anomeric signals can be used to estimate the number of different monosaccharides present in the sample. Other well resolved signals can come from the presence of for example sulfurylation or phosphorylation. The magnitude of vicinal coupling constants $({}^{3}J_{\rm H,H})$ can provide information about the dihedral angles between ring protons (Karplus, 1963) and the peak intensities about the relative number of protons making up each signal.

The next step frequently consists of making use of homonuclear correlation experiments such as COSY and TOCSY. These experiments exploit the scalar couplings between protons in a molecule; through bond correlations of protons are detected. A COSY spectrum typically shows correlations between geminal or vicinal protons although four-bonded correlations may also be seen in some cases. TOCSY type experiments show correlations between all protons within a given spin system. TOCSY make it possible to simultaneously correlate the entire spin system in a sugar residue, depending on the mixing time of the experiment and the size of the coupling constants between the different protons. COSY and TOCSY experiments normally yield plenty of information on the type of monosaccharides present in a sample. Using well resolved anomeric, or other, signals as starting points it is often possible to "walk" through the bonds of a sugar residue.

In addition to homonuclear correlations, heteronuclear correlations can be used for structure determination. Two commonly used experiments are HSQC and HMBC. HSOC experiments correlate ¹H atoms with the ¹³C atoms they are directly bonded to. The larger chemical shift dispersion for carbon signals is an advantage in structural assignments. HSQC can give a clearer picture of the number of different monosaccharides in the sample since the ¹³C anomeric signals appear in a characteristic region between ~90 to 110 ppm. Multiplicity edited-HSOC experiments can be used to differentiate CH and CH₃ carbons from CH₂ carbons. The HSOC-TOCSY experiment is a 2D TOCSY experiment resolved into the carbon dimension. In HSOC-TOCSY crosspeaks are seen between all J-coupled protons in a spin system and each carbon in that spin system. The extra dispersion in the carbon dimension can be very advantageous when overlap in the proton dimension prevents analysis. HMBC experiments are used to identify multiple bond correlations, for example to establish the position of quaternary carbons in a structure or to find correlations across glycosidic linkages to determine the linkage between adjacent sugars.

Another way to obtain linkage information is to detect through-space correlations. Magnetization can be transferred through scalar couplings but also through dipolar interactions (the nuclear Overhauser effect, NOE). The NOE arise from dipole-dipole relaxation between spins through space and depends on the internuclear distance and molecular motion. The NOE effect can be observed for protons up to approximately 5 Å apart. (Wagner & Wuthrich, 1979; Gordon & Wuethrich, 1978). Whether to use NOESY or ROESY experiments depends on the size of the molecule, on the temperature at which the experiment is performed, on the viscosity of the solvent and of the strength of the magnetic field. With an increase in molecular size and departure from extreme narrowing limit behavior NOE effects become smaller and finally negative after passing through zero (Figure 10). To avoid zero or very small NOE enhancements the ROESY experiment can be used for small and

medium sized molecules since the ROE is always positive and increase with molecular size (Bax & Davis, 1985; Bothner-By *et al.*, 1984).



Figure 10. Schematic illustration of the dependence of ROE and transient NOE for a homonuclear isolated two-spin system, as a function of the rate of molecular tumbling.

In this thesis, the experiments mentioned above have been used to obtain ¹H and ¹³C assignments. The following chapters describe other NMR methods and experiments that have also been used in the thesis.

2.2 Hydroxy Protons and NMR Spectroscopy

Carbohydrates are structurally very diverse but the hydroxy group is common to all. These hydroxy groups are important since they are involved in interactions with other biomolecules and with water. Study of hydroxy protons can provide additional NOE constraints for conformational analysis as well as information on hydration and hydrogen bonding interactions (Hakkarainen *et al.*, 2007; Rohfritsch *et al.*, 2007; Hakkarainen *et al.*, 2005; Bekiroglu *et al.*, 2004a; Bekiroglu *et al.*, 2004b; Bekiroglu *et al.*, 2003; Bekiroglu *et al.*, 2000; Sandstrom *et al.*, 1999; Sandstrom *et al.*, 1998b; Sandstrom *et al.*, 1998a; Sheng & Vanhalbeek, 1995; Adams & Lerner, 1994; Bundle *et al.*, 1994; Poppe & Vanhalbeek, 1994; Adams & Lerner, 1992; Poppe *et al.*, 1992; Poppe & Vanhalbeek, 1992b; Poppe & Vanhalbeek, 1992a; Vanhalbeek & Poppe, 1992; Poppe & Vanhalbeek, 1991). The first observation of hydroxy protons of carbohydrates by NMR was reported in 1976 by Harvey and Symons (Harvey *et al.*, 1976).

In this thesis NMR of hydroxy protons was used to study the structure of κ and κ/μ -hybrid carrageenan oligosaccharides as well as the effect of trehalose on the hydration and hydrogen bonding in lactose, in papers I and IV respectively.

2.2.1 Sample Preparation

Carbohydrates studied by NMR spectroscopy in aqueous solution are usually dissolved in deuterated water (D_2O). When studying the exchangeable NH and OH protons, D_2O cannot be used as a solvent because the protons in the sample will exchange with the deuterons from the solvent and become invisible in the NMR spectra (Figure 11).



Figure 11. The exchange of hydroxy protons for deuterons when a sugar is dissolved in D₂O.

Instead H₂O, or solvents without exchangeable deuterons, has to be used to study hydroxy protons. The use of H₂O as the solvent is usually not sufficient to make the hydroxy protons visible and their rate of exchange with water has to be lowered. Normally this is achieved by adjusting the pH to 5.5-7 by addition of small amounts of HCl or NaOH. To minimize the release of impurities, like borate ions, from glassware the NMR sample tubes are soaked in 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7) for at least one hour (Adams & Lerner. 1992), and subsequently rinsed with deionized water. Further reduction of the rate of exchange is achieved by lowering the sample temperature to below 0 °C. Sub-zero temperatures of aqueous samples are possible by using highly concentrated solutions or super-cooling (Batta & Kover, 1999; Poppe & Vanhalbeek, 1994). However, the most common strategy to avoid freezing of the sample is to add 10-15% of an organic solvent such as acetone or methanol. This mixture permits the temperature to be lowered to about -15 °C without the sample freezing, the exact temperature depending on the concentration of the sugar. The NMR spectra before and after careful sample preparation are shown in Figure 12.



Figure 12. Spectra of κ -neocarrabiose before (top) and after cleaning of NMR tube and pH adjustement (bottom).

The effects of small amounts of the relatively weak hydrogen bond donor $(CD_3)_2CO$ (Gomide Freitas *et al.*, 1999) on hydroxy proton chemical shifts and solvation have been assessed. Another study showed that chemical shifts of hydroxy protons were relatively insensitive to different sample conditions such as pH or the concentration of acetone in water (Adams & Lerner, 1994). In dicarboxylic acids it has been shown that even in 90/10% (CD₃)₂CO/H₂O solutions the amount of water was sufficient to allow for full solvation of the intramolecularly hydrogen bonded species (Lin & Frey, 2000). Also, in β -cyclodextrin hydroxy proton chemical shifts and coupling constants were the same in both 95/5% H₂O/D₂O and 85/15% H₂O/(CD₃)₂CO (Bekiroglu *et al.*, 2003).

2.2.2 Suppression of the Water Signal

The huge water signal can be efficiently suppressed by pulsed-field gradient (PFG) experiments such as WET (Smallcombe *et al.*, 1995; Ogg *et al.*, 1994), WATERGATE (Liu *et al.*, 1998; Sklenar *et al.*, 1993; Piotto *et al.*, 1992) and excitation sculpting (Hwang & Shaka, 1995). Water presaturation cannot be used because hydroxy protons exchanging with water will also be saturated. WATERGATE, or variants thereof, and excitation sculpting are incorporated into many *n*D experiments.

2.2.3 Hydroxy Proton NMR Parameters

There are a number of hydroxy proton NMR parameters that can give information on the structure, conformation, hydrogen bonding interactions and hydration of carbohydrates.

Chemical shifts (δ) and chemical shift differences ($\Delta \delta$)

The chemical shifts of hydroxy protons in aqueous solution are usually found between 5.5 and 8.5 ppm, a well isolated region of the NMR spectra downfield from the aliphatic protons. By comparing the chemical shifts of the hydroxy an oligosaccharide with those from its corresponding protons in monosaccharides the chemical shift difference is obtained, $\Delta\delta$ ($\Delta\delta = \delta_{oligo}$ – δ_{mono}). The chemical shift difference can be used as a conformational probe to study hydrogen bond interaction, hydration and spatial proximity to other hydroxy protons, ring oxygen or bulky substituents (Bekiroglu et al., 2004b; Ivarsson *et al.*, 2000; Sandstrom *et al.*, 1998b). Hence a positive $\Delta\delta$ indicates that the hydroxy proton in an oligosaccharide is downfield shifted compared to the shift in the monosaccharide and this reflects spatial proximity to another hydroxy proton. A negative $\Delta\delta$ indicates spatial proximity to non-protonated O5 oxygen or to a bulky substituent and is attributed to a reduced hydration of the hydroxy proton in the oligosaccharide compared to the hydration in the constituent monosaccharide. Hydroxy protons involved in hydrogen bonding should be deshielded (Poppe & Vanhalbeek, 1994) but in strongly hydrated systems such as carbohydrates it appears that the chemical shift of a hydroxy proton is a balance between downfield shifts due to hydrogen bonding and upfield shifts due to reduced hydration (Bekiroglu et al., 2004b).

Vicinal J_{CH,OH} coupling constants

Coupling constants between hydroxy protons and aliphatic ring protons can be used to determine H-C-O-H dihedral angles. According to the Karplus equation derived for hydroxy protons vicinal coupling in the order of 5.5 ± 0.5 Hz indicates conformational averaging with free rotation for the hydroxyl group around the C–O bond (Fraser *et al.*, 1969). A hydroxy proton with a ${}^{3}J_{CH,OH}$ that significantly deviates from 5.5 ± 0.5 Hz would indicate restricted rotation around the H-C-O-H bond which in turn can be an indication of involvement in a hydrogen bonding interaction.

Temperature coefficients (d\delta/dT)

The chemical shifts of hydroxy protons that are only hydrogen bonded to the solvent have marked temperature dependence due to changes in mobility of the solvent molecules. The chemical shifts of other hydrogen-bonded hydroxy

protons are less affected by temperature due to the decreased interaction with solvent. The $d\delta/dT$ is obtained by measuring the chemical shifts of the hydroxy protons at several different temperatures, usually in the range -15 to +15 °C.

Hydroxy protons that are strongly solvated generally have large absolute values of temperature coefficients, above 10 ppb/°C, while hydroxy protons involved in strong intramolecular hydrogen bonds are expected to have absolute values of $d\delta/dT$ below 3 ppb/°C (Kroon *et al.*, 1994; Poppe *et al.*, 1992; Poppe *et al.*, 1990a). For trisaccharides in aqueous solution $| d\delta/dT |$ of 4 ppb/°C and lower have been reported (Sandstrom *et al.*, 1998b; Poppe *et al.*, 1992) and for sugars in DMSO solution 3 ppb/°C has been taken as an indication of involvement in a strong hydrogen bond interaction (Poppe *et al.*, 1990b) Temperature coefficients above 5 ppb/°C can be indicative of weak hydrogen bonding interactions given that other NMR data also corroborate the interaction.

Rotating frame nuclear Overhauser effect (ROE)

When studying hydroxy protons ROESY experiments are used to distinguish between crosspeaks due to dipolar relaxation and chemical exchange. Crosspeaks due to chemical exchange will have the same sign as the diagonal peaks while those due to dipolar relaxation will have the opposite sign (Davis & Bax, 1985). Chemical exchange between hydroxy protons can be an indication of spatial proximity of hydroxy groups and have been used to identify weak hydrogen bonding interactions in sucrose (Sheng & Vanhalbeek, 1995).

Other NMR approaches that can be used to investigate hydrogen bonding and hydration in carbohydrates are determination of rate of exchange for hydroxy protons with water (Kumar *et al.*, 1981; Jeener *et al.*, 1979), line width analysis of hydroxy proton signals (Langeslay *et al.*, 2012), deuteriuminduced differential isotope shift, analysis of $J_{C,OH}$ coupling constants (Zhang *et al.*, 2009) and determination of ¹H, ²H or ¹⁷O relaxation rates of water and sugar protons (Aroulmoji *et al.*, 2012). Since these approaches were not used in the thesis, they will not be further discussed.

2.3 Diffusion and NMR Spectroscopy

It has been possible to study diffusion, or random translational motion of molecules in solution by NMR since the early days of the technique (Carr & Purcell, 1954; Hahn, 1950). The possibility to study translational motion is due to the fact that nuclear spins can be spatially encoded through the use of magnetic field gradients. The first measurements used continuous gradients but

as shown first by Stejskal and Tanner (1965) pulsed field gradient NMR (PFG-NMR) is advantageous in many ways (Figure 13). Some of these advantages are: no line broadening because the gradient is off during acquisition, smaller diffusion coefficients can be measured since the use of larger gradient is possible, the time period for diffusion measurement is well defined which is important for accuracy and measurements of restricted diffusion (Price, 1997).



Figure 13. Simplified description of the pulsed field gradient spin echo sequence and the spatial encoding of spins. The situation for non-diffusing or slow-diffusing molecules is described by the left hand part of the figure. Faster diffusion is described by the right hand part of the figure. Figure adapted from Price (1997).

Basically, the translational movement of a molecule between two gradient pulses is detected. The gradients are applied during the defocusing and refocusing parts of a pulse sequence. Slow-moving molecules will experience almost the same field strength at both times and become refocused and signal intensity will therefore decay slowly. Fast-moving molecules will on the other hand experience many different magnetic field strengths during the course of the experiment and thus display incomplete refocusing and rapid signal decay (Figure 13). The attenuation of the signal in the spin echo can be used to calculate the diffusion coefficient of a molecule when the gradient pulse duration, amplitude and the delay between the pulses are known. The differences in translational motion of different molecules can be used for spectral editing (Liu *et al.*, 1996) resolving or discriminating between signals from molecules of different sizes at different experimental conditions. Spectral

editing can also include solvent suppression where the sizes of the solvent and solute molecules differ enough in size (Esturau & Espinosa, 2006; Giernoth & Bankmann, 2005; van Zijl & Moonen, 1990).

In the early 1990s the idea of using translational motion as an extra dimension in a NMR spectrum was realized with the advent of diffusion ordered 2D NMR spectroscopy (DOSY) (Morris & Johnson, 1992). DOSY experiments separate molecules according to their diffusion coefficients in the second diffusion dimension (Figure 14). The applications of DOSY are numerous and include mixture analysis (biofluids and compound libraries etc.), hydrophobicity separation, compartmentalization analysis, molecular association analysis and ligand screening (Johnson, 1999).



Figure 14. Two examples of DOSY spectra. a) Trehalose and methyl- β -D-glucose in D₂O at 30 °C. b) Lactose in D₂O at 0 °C.

PFG-NMR was used in papers II and III for solvent suppression and spectral editing purposes. In paper IV, PFG-NMR was used to study the diffusion of water and disaccharides in binary and ternary solutions.

2.4 Saturation Transfer Difference NMR Spectroscopy

Saturation transfer NMR has for a long time been used to characterize the binding in ligand-receptor complexes. Carbohydrate-protein binding was analyzed already in the late 1970s (Akasaka, 1979). However the concept of saturation transfer difference NMR (STD NMR) as a means for screening of compound mixtures and for epitope mapping is relatively new and was realized in the late 1990s (Mayer & Meyer, 2001; Maaheimo *et al.*, 2000; Klein *et al.*, 1999; Mayer & Meyer, 1999). The development was partly driven by a need and a will to non-invasively and relatively fast analyze ligand binding to proteins from mixtures of ligands.

STD NMR is based on the selective saturation of the macromolecule NMR signals. The saturation spreads through all the macromolecule NMR signals via spin diffusion, which is particularly effective in macromolecules, like proteins, with tightly dipole-dipole coupled protons. Then, if one ligand out of a mixture is bound to the macromolecule under the conditions of fast exchange the saturation is transferred to that ligand through intermolecular saturation transfer. When the ligand is released from the macromolecule, the transferred saturation can be detected in solution. The resulting spectrum is then subtracted from a spectrum where the macromolecule signals have not been saturated and consequently not the ligand either. This gives a difference spectrum only showing the signals from the ligand that was bound to the macromolecule. The protons in closest contact to the macromolecule will receive most saturation and will yield larger signal in the difference spectrum which makes it possible to map the binding epitope of a ligand at the atomic level (Mayer & Meyer, 2001). The principle is schematically described in figure 15.



Figure 15. Schematic description of the STD NMR experiment and its use in epitope mapping. Figure adapted from Mayer & Meyer (2001).

Very low amounts of the macromolecule (low μ M range) are required since it is the ligand, usually in 50 to 100-fold excess, which is detected. Knowledge of the macromolecule structure or isotope labeling of it is not needed and there is no upper size limit for the macromolecule. Ligands with dissociation constants in the high mM to nM range ($10^{-3}-10^{-8}$ M) can be studied and binding constants can be obtained. The STD scheme can be incorporated into NMR experiments, such as COSY, TOCSY, NOESY and HSQC. Drawbacks include difficulty to differentiate between strong and non-binders since they both give no signals in an STD spectrum. However this problem can be solved by performing a competition study with a known weak binder. Also extra care has to be taken to ensure full saturation when the macromolecule is small (Claasen *et al.*, 2005; Meyer & Peters, 2003; Mayer & James, 2002; Mayer & Meyer, 2001; Klein *et al.*, 1999; Mayer & Meyer, 1999). STD NMR was used in paper III to study the binding between a GAG sulfatase enzyme and a synthetic substrate.

2.5 Specific Aims

In the first project the structural implications of having μ -residues in κ -carrageenan oligosaccharides were investigated.

The aim of the second project was to find a reliable method for measuring the M/G-ratio on intact alginate samples in solution. Such a method should require limited sample preparation and be applicable to the screening of large sample sets.

The third project was aimed at identifying novel bacterial sulfatases and determining the specificity of these enzymes against different types of GAG oligo- and polysaccharides.

In the fourth project, the effects of trehalose and sucrose on the hydration properties and hydrogen bonding of lactose were investigated.

3 Results and Discussion

This chapter of the thesis is a summary of the results found in papers I–IV. Some results not presented in the papers are also introduced and discussed.

3.1 Paper I: NMR Study on Hydroxy Protons of κ- and κ-/μ-Hybrid Carrageenan Oligosaccharides: Experimental Evidence of Hydrogen Bonding and Chemical Exchange Interactions in κ/μ Oligosaccharides

The structure and properties of carrageenans greatly depend on the type of carrageenan. κ -Carrageenan is a gelling polysaccharide whereas its biological precursor, μ , is non-gelling. κ -Carrageenan exists as a mixture of κ and μ -carrageenan since it is biosynthesized from μ -carrageenan. The mixture of κ and μ -carrageenan hampers helix-forming ability and in turn the gel-forming capacity. From a perspective where consistency in gelling is a key factor, understanding the structure-function relationships is important. The *in vivo* transformation of μ into κ -carrageenan is performed by sulfurylase enzymes and *in vitro* by hot alkali treatment. The incorporation of the 3,6-anhydrobridge into the D-residues stabilizes the ${}^{1}C_{4}$ chair conformation and thus the gelling abilities of the carrageenans. The lower jelling ability of μ -carrageenan stems from the ${}^{4}C_{1}$ conformation of the D-residues that causes kinks in the polysaccharide chain that impede helix formation and subsequent gelling.

The structures of κ and κ/μ oligosaccharides produced by enzymatic digestions of carrageenans from cultivated *Kappaphycus alvarezii* were recently solved by NMR spectroscopy (Jouanneau *et al.*, 2010).

In this study, unusual downfield shifts of the anomeric protons of the Dgalactose-6-sulfate sugar (H1_D6S¹) were observed when one μ -neocarrabiose unit was positioned between two others. We hypothesize that such a downfield shift could originate from differences in hydrogen bonding interactions for the different oligosaccharides. To evaluate this hypothesis a study of the hydroxy protons by NMR spectroscopy was performed.

The κ and κ/μ -carrageenan oligosaccharides and their constituent mono saccharides shown in figure 16 were investigated.



Figure 16. Structures of the mono- and oligosaccharides 1-10.

The chemical shifts (δ), chemical shift differences ($\Delta\delta$), temperature coefficients ($d\delta/dT$), NOEs and chemical exchange of hydroxy protons were measured to gain insight into hydrogen bonding and hydration. Due to broad hydroxy proton signals and spectral overlap the coupling constants, ${}^{3}J_{CH,OH}$, could be measured only for compounds **1**, **2** and **8**. The spectral overlap and broad signals in the larger oligosaccharides precluded the measurement of hydroxy proton exchange rates with water. The assignments of proton resonances were made using ¹H-1D, DQF-COSY and TOCSY 2D spectra as well as previously recorded data (Jouanneau *et al.*, 2010; Knutsen & Grasdalen, 1992). The hydroxy proton resonances being in a well isolated region of the NMR spectra were used for the assignment of H5 and H6 whose assignment could not be obtained previously (Figure 17).

^{1.} H1 describes the proton attached to carbon 1 of that sugar, D describes the type of sugar, 6 and S after D indicates a sulfation at position 6 of that residue. A number in parenthesis at the end specifies the number of that monosaccharide in the oligosaccharide chain, counting from the reducing end.


Figure 17. Part of a TOCSY spectrum of $\kappa\kappa\kappa\kappa$ **4** showing the possibility to assign aliphatic proton shifts of sugars through correlation to hydroxy protons.

For the κ -oligosaccharides there was no experimental evidence of the existence of strong hydrogen bonding interactions. The absolute values of $\Delta\delta$ of the hydroxy protons in the oligosaccharides were small (< 0.2 ppm) indicating hydration similar to that in the constituent monosaccharides. Most hydroxy protons had large negative temperature coefficients (Figure 18). No interresidual NOEs between hydroxy protons or between hydroxy protons and aliphatic protons were found. Only the negative $\Delta\delta$ and slightly lower $d\delta/dT$ of all OH2_G4S compared to those of OH2_DA might reflect reduced hydration due to spatial proximity to the ring oxygen of DA. A hydrogen bond between OH2 of G4S and O5 of DA has indeed been found in the crystal structure of neocarrabiose and by simulations using MM force fields (Bosco *et al.*, 2005; Stortz & Cerezo, 2003; Ueda *et al.*, 2001; Stortz & Cerezo, 2000; Lamba *et al.*, 1990).



Figure 18. $\Delta\delta$ and $d\delta/dT$ for κ -carrageenan oligosaccharides **1–4**. Only data for the β -anomeric forms are shown.

In the κ/μ -oligosaccharides 5–7, OH2_G4S at the reducing end and OH2_G4S(3) had negative $\Delta\delta s$ (~ - 0.2 ppm), whereas those with one or two D6S residues as neighbors had $\Delta\delta s$ close to zero. The OH2 and OH3 of D6S had consistently smaller $|d\delta/dT|$ than the other hydroxy protons (Figure 19). In the hexasaccharide $\kappa\mu\kappa$, 5, a crosspeak due to chemical exchange was observed between OH2_G4S(5) and OH3_D6S(4) in the ROESY spectra. In the octasaccharide $\kappa\mu\mu\kappa$, 6, chemical exchange between OH2_G4S(5) and OH3_D6S(4) and between OH2_G4S(7) and OH3_D6S(6) was observed (Figure 20).



Figure 19. $\Delta\delta$, $d\delta/dT$ and chemical exchange for hydroxy protons in κ/μ -carrageenan oligosaccharides 5–7. Only data for the β -anomeric forms are shown (n.d.: not determined).

Comparison of the proton NMR spectra of κ and κ/μ hexa- and octasaccharides revealed significant downfield shifts of OH2_G4S(5) and (7) in $\kappa\mu\kappa$ and $\kappa\mu\mu\kappa$ compared to the corresponding protons in the κ -oligosaccharides (Figure 21). OH2_G4S(1) and (3) had on the other hand negative $\Delta\delta s$ as in the κ oligosaccharides. OH2_G4S(3) had a larger negative $\Delta\delta$ in the κ/μ sugars suggesting that a 3-linked D6S(4) residue reduces hydration of OH2_G4S(3) or that OH2_G4S(3) is in closer proximity to O5 of D6S(4) than O5 of DA.



Figure 20. Part of the TOCSY spectra of (a) **5**, showing the chemical exchange crosspeaks between OH2_G4S(5) and OH3_D6S(4); (b) **6**, showing the chemical exchange crosspeaks between OH2_G4S(7) and OH3_D6S(6) as well as between OH2_G4S(5) and OH3_D6S(4); (c) 7, showing two chemical exchange crosspeaks, one between the signals from OH2_G4S(9) and OH3_D6S(8) and the other one between the overlapping signals from OH2_G4S(5), (7) and OH3_D6S(4), (6).

The downfield shift of OH2_G4S(5) and (7) in compounds **5–6** compared to in compounds **3–4** is due to a different chemical surrounding with a D6S residue as its closest reducing-end neighbor instead of DA as in the κ -oligosaccharides. This together with the exchange crosspeaks discussed above suggests a transient hydrogen bonding interaction between OH2_G4S and OH3_D6S. The lower temperature coefficients of OH2 and OH3 of D6S can probably be explained by reduced interaction with water because of the spatial proximity to the 4-sulfate group and to the ring oxygen of G4S respectively. Such interactions have been predicted by MM3-calculations (Stortz, 2006), and these NMR data on hydroxy protons give the first experimental evidence that hydrogen bonding interactions can exist, at least transiently, in water solution.



Figure 21. ¹H 1D NMR spectra (a) and (b) show the downfield shift of the OH2_G4S(5) signal in **5** (b) compared to in **3** (a). Spectra (c) and (d) show the downfield shift of the OH2_G4S(5) and OH2_G4S(7) signals in **6** (d) compared to in **4** (c).

There is one hydrogen bond in KµK and two hydrogen bonds in KµµK but comparison of the NMR data in the two compounds suggest that the interactions are not stronger in the larger oligosaccharide. For the decasaccharide кµµµк, 7, signal overlap precludes the unambiguous determination of whether three or only two of the OH2 G4S-OH3 D6S interactions are present. Examination of the crosspeak intensities in the TOCSY spectra suggested that only one of the pairs OH2 G4S(5), (7) and OH3 D6S(4), (6) have chemical exchange. If this is the case, the downfield shift observed for H1 D6S(6) could tentatively be attributed to the loss of a hydrogen bond and the subsequent increase in flexibility. On the other hand, the almost identical chemical shift and very similar temperature coefficients indicate similarities instead of differences in the structure. Faster exchange process in the larger киµик oligosaccharide cannot be excluded. Different exchange processes in compounds 5-7 could mean that chemical exchange interactions between the OH2 G4S and OH3 D6S hydroxy protons might be present along all the oligosaccharide chain in KUUUK as well.

Gelation is based on intermolecular hydrogen bonds in large polymers while the NMR data presented here only shows intramolecular hydrogen bonds in oligosaccharides. However, it cannot be excluded that what is observed at the oligosaccharide level is also present in the larger polymers. Thus, transient hydrogen bonding interactions in μ -carrageenan may be of importance for the macromolecular structuring properties of κ -carrageenan. Jouanneau *et al.* (2010) showed that the three main distributions of μ -carrabiose in the native κ carrageenan were μ , $\mu\mu$ and $\mu\mu\mu$. It is likely that most of the μ -carrabiose units in κ -carrageenan are excluded from helical regions and in turn from the junction zones formed upon gelling. The intrachain bonding found in μ carrabiose may then implicate that the fractions between the junction zones do in fact possess a certain structure and might play a role in the organization of the κ -carrageenan gel network.

3.2 Paper II: Application of Diffusion-Edited NMR Spectroscopy for Selective Suppression of Water Signal in the Determination of Monomer Composition in Alginates

As described in the introduction, the physical properties of alginates such as gel properties and viscosity are largely correlated to the monomer composition (M/G-ratio), the block distribution and the molecular weight. Therefore, access to methods for accurate determination of the M/G-ratio is important and NMR spectroscopy is one of the most effective tools. Determination of the M/G-ratio, and also of the diad and triad composition, is done by integration of the

signals in the anomeric region of the ¹H spectrum. These signals are relatively well resolved and are characteristic for H1 and H5 of G and M residues in different surroundings as can be seen in figure 22.



Figure 22. Anomeric region of a ¹H NMR spectrum of an alginate polysaccharide. Formula for calculation of monomeric fractions: F_M , fraction of M residues; F_G , fraction of G residues; I, integral. Assignments were taken from Salomonsen *et al.* (2009a).

Sometimes, however, the high viscosity of alginate samples does not allow the acquisition of highly resolved NMR spectra. A frequently used solution to this problem is to partially hydrolyze the alginate to lower the molecular weight and in turn the viscosity. This is however time consuming and it can also lead to sample alteration compared to the intact sample since different glycosidic linkages in alginate have different rates of hydrolysis (Salomonsen et al., 2008; Holtan et al., 2006; Grasdalen et al., 1979b; Smidsrod et al., 1969; Haug et al., 1967a; Haug et al., 1966; Smidsrod et al., 1966). Different approaches have been proposed to overcome this problem including ¹H high-resolution magic angle spinning (HR-MAS) NMR of alginates suspended in D₂O and ¹³C crosspolarization MAS (CP-MAS) NMR of alginate powders. Both these techniques have successfully been used to analyze the M/G-ratios of alginates (Salomonsen et al., 2009b). Many laboratories are however not equipped with HR-MAS or CP-MAS probes. Additionally, temperatures of 80-90 °C have to be used to move the water signal away from the region containing the signals used for the M/G-ratio calculation and not all HR-MAS probes can be operated at such high temperatures. We have therefore investigated the possibility of using standard high resolution liquid NMR probes where the use of high temperatures does not pose a problem and thereby the water signal can, if needed, be moved away from the diagnostic signals.

In order to lower the sample viscosity the sample concentration is lowered which in turn makes the water signal become several orders of magnitude larger than the alginate signals. This leads to baseline and dynamic range problems that may preclude a correct M/G-ratio determination. Therefore, water suppression is necessary. Commonly used water suppression techniques such as presaturation or those based on pulse field gradients lack selectivity and resonances that overlap with the solvent signal will also be suppressed. It has also been shown that water presaturation affect the signal intensity of the signals in the NMR spectra of alginates, leading to significant errors in M/G-ratio analysis (Salomonsen *et al.*, 2009a) (Figure 23).



Figure 23. Comparison of different water suppression techniques applied on sample 01 (Table 1). (a) single pulse ¹H NMR spectrum, (b) presaturation (*zgpr*), (c) NOESY presaturation (*noesygppr1d*), (d) WATERGATE (*zggpw5*) with a too short pulse interval ($d19 = 400 \ \mu$ s), (e) WATERGATE (*zggpw5*) with optimum pulse interval ($d19 = 700 \ \mu$ s), (f) diffusion-edited (BPP-LED). All spectra were obtained at 70 °C.

An alternative approach is to use a diffusion-filtered NMR experiment that eliminates the water signal while retaining the signals of interest. This approach exploits the higher diffusivity of water molecules relative to the larger solute molecules.

The bipolar gradient pulse pair longitudinal eddy current delay pulse sequence (BPP-LED) (Wu *et al.*, 1995) was used (Figure 24). In this experiment the magnetization is kept longitudinal during the diffusion period and the eddy current delay, and the relaxation losses are dictated mainly by the longitudinal relaxation T₁ instead of T₂. In a first step, five alginate samples with representative M/G-ratios and viscosities were chosen from a set of 20 (Table 1), in order to establish sample preparation and data processing procedures as well as to evaluate different experimental temperatures. The diffusion parameters, Δ (diffusion delay) and δ (gradient pulse duration), were determined empirically since the molecular weights of the alginates were unknown and because of the large variation in sample viscosities.

For temperatures between 15 and 65 °C the water signal fully or partially overlapped with the signals between 4.4 and 5.2 ppm used for M/G-ratio determination.



Figure 24. Schematic representation of the BPP-LED pulse sequence (Wu *et al.*, 1995). The figure is adapted from Dehner and Kessler (2005).

Accurate determination of M/G-ratios could be achieved for many samples at temperatures as low as 30 °C and at 50 °C it was possible for all types of alginate samples, regardless of high or low viscosity or high or low M/G-ratio (Figure 25).



Figure 25. Anomeric region at 50 °C of a) ¹H NMR spectrum, sample 01, b) diffusion-edited spectrum sample 01, c) ¹H NMR spectrum, sample 17, d) diffusion-edited spectrum, sample 17, e) ¹H NMR spectrum sample 20, f) diffusion-edited spectrum, sample 20. $\Delta = 50$ ms, $\delta = 2.0$ ms.

For the development of a general protocol, a temperature of 70 $^{\circ}$ C was chosen to have the water signal upfield of the signals of interest for M/G-ratio calculation. Diffusion-edited spectra were obtained for 20 different alginate samples with varying M/G-ratios and viscosities (Table 1). Two sets of samples were recorded manually at 600 MHz and one set of samples was recorded at 400 MHz using a sample changer and the automation software ICON-NMR.

of 3 experiments per sample and sample set were run.										
Sample	M/G- ratio ^a	Viscosity ^b	Set 1		Set 2		Set 3		Sets 1,2 and 3	
			Avg M/G	SD	Avg M/G	SD	Avg M/G	SD	Avg M/G	SD
01	0.4	50	0.4	0.06	0.4	0.06	0.4	0.06	0.4	0.06
02	0.5	340	0.5	0.04	0.5	0.02	0.4	0.08	0.5	0.07
03	0.4	170	0.4	0.05	0.4	0.03	0.4	0.05	0.4	0.05
04	0.4	55	0.5	0.08	0.4	0.02	0.4	0.01	0.4	0.05
05	0.4	75	0.4	0.02	0.5	0.02	0.4	0.05	0.4	0.05
06	0.4	420	0.4	0.02	0.4	0.03	0.2	0.06	0.4	0.11
07	0.5	240	0.5	0.01	0.5	0.03	0.4	0.12	0.5	0.09
08	0.7	540	0.7	0.02	0.7	0.05	0.6	0.09	0.7	0.06
09	0.6	370	1.2	0.10	1.2	0.07	1.1	0.10	1.1	0.10
10	0.7	450	0.7	0.01	0.7	0.02	0.6	0.12	0.6	0.06
11	0.7	270	0.7	0.03	0.7	0.04	0.6	0.02	0.7	0.04
12	0.9	390	0.8	0.05	0.8	0.04	0.7	0.16	0.8	0.08
13	0.9	360	0.9	0.01	0.9	0.02	0.8	0.08	0.9	0.06
14	1.2	760	1.1	0.05	1.0	0.03	1.0	0.19	1.0	0.13
15	1.3	9	0.9	0.06	1.2	0.01	1.1	0.07	1.1	0.12
16	1.3	500	1.3	0.01	1.3	0.03	1.1	0.08	1.2	0.10
17	1.5	64	1.6	0.06	1.6	0.11	1.4	0.05	1.5	0.11
18	1.5	1400	1.1	0.07	1.1	0.05	1.0	0.12	1.0	0.09
19	1.8	420	2.1	0.07	2.1	0.05	1.8	0.08	2.0	0.15
20	1.7	1140	1.7	0.10	1.9	0.11	1.5	0.18	1.7	0.20

Table 1. Values for M/G-ratios and viscosities. M/G-ratios^a determined by FTIR. Viscosity^b (mPa·s) determined on 1% solutions at 20 °C and 60 rpm using a Brookfield LVT. Sets 1, 2 and 3 are three separately prepared sample sets. The M/G-ratios were calculated from ¹H NMR spectra acquired at 70 °C with the BPP-LED pulse sequence using $\Delta = 50$ ms and $\delta = 1.3$ ms. A minimum of 3 experiments per sample and sample set were run.

The M/G-ratios were in good agreement with those obtained by FTIR (Table 1). The standard deviations (SD) within triplicates and between sample sets were generally low, below 0.1. Previously published SDs determined on commercially available alginates (Salomonsen *et al.*, 2008) correlate well with the SDs for M/G-ratios of sample sets 1 and 2 in table 1. For samples with extreme values more specific diffusion parameters can be used.

Diffusion-edited NMR as a solvent suppression technique is not limited to alginates but is also useful for studying other biopolymers. It was for example found very useful for selectively removing several interfering signals from buffer (Paper III) to enable interpretation of sample signals. Since diffusionedited NMR can be used for water suppression in the analysis of alginates at temperatures below 50 °C, it permits the use of probes that cannot be used at high temperatures such as cryoprobes or certain HR-MAS probes.

3.3 Paper III: The First Bacterial Glycosaminoglycan Endosulfatase Reveals Novel Metabolic Pathways in the Prominent Human Gut Symbiont *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron*

To identify novel sulfatases that would modify the sulfation pattern of GAGs with the goal of producing new sulfated oligosaccharides with new therapeutic properties, *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron*, a GAG degrading bacteria, present in the human gut was investigated. Eleven sulfatases induced in presence of host glycans were cloned, expressed and tested for sulfatase activity. As a first step in the biochemical characterization of the enzymes, the activity as a generic arylsulfatase was assayed using the chromogenic pNP-S as a substrate. Only a few of the eleven enzymes were found to be active against this substrate (Paper III, supplementary information, Table 1). Four of the eleven in vivo induced enzymes were induced in vitro in presence of GAGs (Benjdia et al., 2011; Martens et al., 2008). Two of the in vitro induced enzymes, BT1596 and BT3349, hydrolyzed pNP-S making them authentic sulfatases while two others, BT4656 and BT3333, were not. The activity of the four enzymes was further tested towards a broad variety of sulfated substrates using various analytical techniques. These substrates were polymeric GAGs such as heparin and chondroitin (Figure 9), a synthetic library of chondroitin disaccharides with various sulfation patterns (Figure 26), mixtures of unsaturated disaccharides obtained by the action of lyases on CS and HS polymers as well as monomeric substrates and saturated and unsaturated oligosaccharides (Figure 33).



Figure 26. Structures of the CS disaccharides **11–17** in the synthetic library (Lubineau & Bonnaffe, 1999) used for testing sulfatase activity.

Sulfatase BT3349 identified as a bacterial endo-4-O-sulfatase

When incubated with polymeric shark chondroitin BT3349 was the only enzyme capable of removing sulfate from CS. Analysis of the 2D COSY, TOCSY and HSQC NMR spectra of the polymer before and after addition of BT3349 clearly showed that upon addition of the enzyme all the signals corresponding to H4 of GalNAc sulfated at the C4 position were suppressed demonstrating that the enzyme was hydrolyzing all 4-sulfate groups of the GalNAc4S units in the polymer chain (Figure 27).



Figure 27. 2D TOCSY (a) and HSQC spectra (b) comparing polymeric CS before (red) and after (black) incubation with BT3349. In the HSQC spectrum the shifts of signals from H2/C2, H3/C3, H4/C4 and H5/C5 are visualized by the light blue arrows.

BT3349 desulfated not only CSA, mainly monosulfated at C-4 of GalNAc but also other types of CS chains such as CSB, CSD and CSE with various degrees and positions of sulfation (Figure 4A, B Paper III).

The extent of desulfation varied for the different substrates, depending on the sulfation pattern. Mono 4-O-sulfated chains were essentially completely hydrolyzed but sulfation at positions other than C-4 as well as epimerization of the hexuronate unit affected the accessibility of the enzyme (Figure 4A and C in Paper III). As distribution of sulfate groups in different chain types is heterogeneous, analysis at chain level gives a semi-quantitative indication of the impact of modification surrounding the target sulfate group.

Screening of BT3349 towards a library of chondroitin disaccharides (Figure 26) showed that disaccharides with sulfate groups in the 4-position of GalNAc were also substrates for the enzyme. Comparison of the NMR spectra of the disaccharide GlcA-GalNAc4S6S (Figure 26, compound 14) before and after addition of BT3349 showed that the signals at 4.8 and 4.9 ppm corresponding to H4-GalNAc4S6S disappeared, demonstrating desulfation at position 4 of GalNAc and thus confirming the high specificity for the C-4 position (Figure 28).



Figure 28. Comparison of ¹H 1D NMR spectra of GlcA-GalNAc4S6S before (a) and after (b) incubation with BT3349. The characteristic signals of H4(α/β) of GalNAc4S6S at 4.9 and 4.8 ppm disappear upon incubation with the enzyme.

4,5-Unsaturated hexuronate (Δ) disaccharides obtained from the different types of CS by hydrolysis with lyases were also substrates for BT3349. They were therefore further used to determine the influence of sulfate groups in position C-2 of the hexuronate sugar and position C-6 of the galactosamine on the efficiency of the enzyme. The results showed that GalNAc 6-O-sulfation only slightly affects the activity, whereas Δ 2-O-sulfation hampered BT3349 activity significantly. Sulfation at all three possible positions rendered the substrate even less accessible to the enzyme (Figure 4D, Paper III).

Identification of two 6-O-sulfatases

Since BT3333 was found to be inactive towards polymeric CS (Figure 29) and HS as well as towards both saturated and unsaturated disaccharides an exolytic mechanism of the enzyme was suspected.



Figure 29. ¹H 1D NMR spectra of polymeric shark CS alone (a) and incubated with BT3333 (b).

BT3333 was found to be active towards GalNAc-6-*O*-sulfate but not towards GlcNAc-6-*O*-sulfate making the enzyme a strict exolytic *N*-acetylgalactosamine-6-*O*-sulfatase (Figure 2B, Paper III).



Figure 30. Diffusion-edited NMR spectra of heparin alone (a) and incubated with BT4656 (b). G denotes protons from GlcNAc and I from IdoA. Intensity differences for IdoA signals I1 and I5 can be corrected by addition of EDTA to the incubated sample.

BT4656 was found to be inactive against heparin/HS (Figure 30) and CS polymeric substrates. BT4656 was also assayed for sulfatase activity towards HS disaccharide substrates with either a hexuronate or a 4,5-unsaturated hexuronate residue in the non-reducing end but no activity was found. The

enzyme was assigned 6-*O*-sulfatase activity from a UV-based assay involving the chromogenic substrate 6-*O*-sulfo-GlcNAc-*O*-*p*NP. The assay was designed so that BT4656, 6-*O*-sulfo-GlcNAc-*O*-*p*NP and β -*N*-acetylglucosaminidase were incubated together and the release of *p*NP was monitored at 405 nm. β -*N*acetylglucosaminidase is only able to cleave the *p*NP moiety if the 6-*O*-sulfate group has been hydrolyzed. The 6-*O*-sulfatase activity and role of BT4656 as an exolytic *N*-acetylglucosamine-6-*O*-sulfatase was corroborated by NMR analysis (Figure 31).



Figure 31. Parts of ¹H 1D NMR spectra of 6-*O*-sulfo-GlcNAc-*O*-pNP in presence of BT4656 before (a) and after (b) desulfation. Action of the enzyme results in an upfield shift of the H6 signals, indicative of desulfation. Unassigned signals are from buffer.

In an attempt to identify the interactions between BT4656 and this substrate, STD NMR experiments were performed. Large STD signals, evidence of binding, were observed (Figure 32).



Figure 32. Part of the ¹H NMR spectra of 6-*O*-sulfo-GlcNAc-*O*-*p*NP alone (a), incubated with BT4656 (b) and part of STD spectrum of 6-*O*-sulfo-GlcNAc-*O*-*p*NP incubated with BT4656 (c).

The largest enhancement was seen for H4, H2, H3 and the *N*-acetyl group. H5 and H6 showed the weakest STD effects. STDs to the phenyl protons of pNP

were also observed. The buffer did not bind the protein and consequently no signals from the corresponding protons were observed in the STD spectra indicating that the effects observed were due to true saturation transfer.

Identification of an exolytic 2-O-sulfatase

BT1596 showed no activity against polymeric HS. The activity of BT1596 was then investigated by incubating the enzyme with a heparin hexasaccharide (Petitou *et al.*, 1988) as well as with the hemisynthetic ultra-low molecular weight heparin AVE5026 (Figure 33). AVE5026 has an average MW of around 2400 Da and with a degree of sulfation being about 2.0 per disaccharide unit (Viskov *et al.*, 2009). In the hexasaccharide, only Δ is sulfated at the 2-*O*position while in AVE5026 both Δ and the internal IdoA residues are partially 2-*O*-sulfated (Figure 33).



Figure 33. Schematic structures of AVE5026 (18, top) and hexasaccharide (19, bottom). Compounds are present as Na^+ -salts.

Comparison of the ¹H and ¹³C signals for the hexasaccharide before and after incubation with BT1596 showed chemical shift differences for the signals H1/C1 to H4/C4 at the non-reducing end (Figure 34). The large upfield shifts of H2 (0.84 ppm) from 4.64 ppm to 3.80 ppm together with the carbon upfield shift of circa 4 ppm (not shown) proved desulfation at this position. The changes in chemical shifts for the other signals are also characteristic of desulfation at the 2-position (Guerrini *et al.*, 2002; Pervin *et al.*, 1995).



Figure 34. 1 H 1D NMR spectra of hexasaccharide (19) before (a) and after (b) incubation with BT1596.

To confirm the exolytic character of the enzyme its activity was tested towards AVE5026. NMR analysis of the AVE5026 oligosaccharides before and after incubation with BT1596 demonstrated that the enzyme is exclusively hydrolyzing the sulfate ester from the 2-position of the non-reducing end of all oligosaccharides present in AVE5026 making it a Δ -4-hexuronate-2-*O*-sulfatase (Figure 35).



Figure 35. Superimposition of ${}^{1}\text{H}{-}{}^{13}\text{C}$ HSQC spectra of AVE5026 alone (black and green) and incubated with BT1596 (red and blue) showing the large shifts experienced by the carbons and protons of the non-reducing end residue upon desulfation at position 2. The spectra also show that internal IdoA2S remains sulfated. Spectrum (a) displays the anomeric region and spectrum (b) the H2 to H6 region.

The desulfation is specific for the non-reducing end since the signals for internal IdoA2S did not show any significant changes in chemical shift (Figure 35 and 36). A desulfation at C2 of IdoA2S would have resulted in a chemical shift change for the corresponding H2 proton from 4.32 ppm to 3.8 ppm (Pervin *et al.*, 1995). Further the intensity of the H1-IdoA2S signal was the same before and after enzyme addition indicating no desulfation. BT1596

desulfated at the 2-position on the non-reducing end, invariably of the oligosaccharide size.



Figure 36. Superimposition of part of TOCSY spectra of AVE5026 alone (black) and incubated with BT1596 (red). No significant changes are observed in chemical shifts of internal IdoA2S H2 and H3.

BT1596 was also tested for sulfatase activity against an array of unsaturated HS and CS disaccharides. All types of 2-*O*-sulfated compounds were substrate for the enzyme independently of their hexosamine unit and additional sulfation (Figure 2B, Paper III). To verify that 4,5-unsaturation of the non-reducing end hexuronate was required for desulfation BT1596 was incubated with a saturated synthetic octasaccharide (Figure 37) and analyzed by NMR. No signs of desulfation were observed (Paper III, supplementary information, Figure 5).



Figure 37. Schematic structure of the synthetic octasaccharide (20), the compound is a Na^+ -salt.

In view of these results a degradation pathway of GAGs by sulfatases from *B. thetaiotaomicron* could be tentatively proposed (Figure 6 in Paper III). *B. thetaiotaomicron* has the possibility to desulfate polymeric CS on the 4-position before degradation by GAG lyases into oligosaccharides and subsequently further desulfation and degradation can take place. Polymeric heparin/HS on the other hand are first degraded into oligosaccharides that are then desulfated, further degraded and finally additional desulfation occur.

3.4 Paper IV: NMR Study on the Interaction of Trehalose With Lactose and its Effect on the Hydrogen Bond Interaction in Lactose

Disaccharides like sucrose and trehalose are known for protecting biomolecules such as proteins and membranes from freezing, heating, desiccation and osmotic shock (Sampedro *et al.*, 2001; Sampedro *et al.*, 1998; Iwahashi *et al.*, 1995; Leslie *et al.*, 1995; Hottiger *et al.*, 1994). Four hypotheses, not necessarily mutually exclusive, have been proposed to explain the stabilizing effect of trehalose: (1) the water replacement hypothesis (Allison *et al.*, 1999), (2) the water entrapment or preferential hydration hypothesis (Belton & Gil, 1994), (3) the high viscosity hypothesis (Sampedro & Uribe, 2004; Green & Angell, 1989) and (4) the water destructuring effect mechanism (Lerbret *et al.*, 2005a; Lerbret *et al.*, 2005b; Branca *et al.*, 1999b).

Since the bioprotective properties of the sugars are thought to involve the hydroxyl groups and their interactions with water, it was investigated if and how the hydration and hydrogen bonding interaction in lactose (Figure 3) was affected by addition of trehalose or sucrose. For this the chemical shifts (δ), chemical shift differences ($\Delta\delta$), coupling constants, (${}^{3}J_{CH,OH}$), temperature coefficients (d δ /dT) and rotating frame nuclear Overhauser effects (ROE) of the hydroxy protons of lactose alone in solution and in the presence of trehalose or sucrose were measured over a large range of concentrations. The NMR data for trehalose and sucrose alone in solution were also collected. The experiments were performed in a 90/10% H₂O/(CD₃)₂CO solvent mixture. The diffusion of water, lactose and trehalose in binary and ternary systems was also investigated over a large range of concentrations using DOSY.

In water/trehalose and water/lactose binary systems the sugars have similar diffusion properties at low temperatures (< 40 °C), while at high temperatures and high concentrations the lactose diffusion rate was slightly higher. At low sugar concentrations water had the same diffusion in both systems and over the entire range of temperatures while for high sugar concentration the diffusion rate of water was lower with trehalose for temperatures above 45 °C, in good agreement with previous results (Ekdawi-Sever *et al.*, 2003; Iannilli *et al.*, 2001; Rampp *et al.*, 2000; Magazu *et al.*, 1999). In water/trehalose/lactose ternary systems both sugars had similar diffusion properties at all temperatures and concentrations investigated.

The presence of a weak hydrogen bond between OH3 in glucose (GlcOH3) and O5' in galactose (GalO5') in supercooled lactose has been deduced from the decrease in the chemical exchange rate of GlcOH3 as well as from the

small value of its ${}^{3}J_{CH,OH}$ (3.1 Hz) (Poppe & Vanhalbeek, 1994). For sucrose, under supercooled conditions, the existence of a transient hydrogen bond between the GlcOH2 and FruOH1' groups was evidenced from the chemical exchange observed between GlcOH2 and FruOH1' (Sheng & Vanhalbeek, 1995). For trehalose, the ${}^{3}J_{CH,OH}$ and ${}^{2,3}J_{C,OH}$ of the hydroxy protons, measured in 97/3% H₂O/D₂O solvent at -3 °C, suggested that no intramolecular hydrogen bonding interactions were present (Batta & Kover, 1999).



Figure 38. ¹H 1D NMR spectra of the hydroxy proton region of (a) trehalose, (b) sucrose, (c) lactose, (d) glucose and (e) galactose at $-5 \,^{\circ}$ C in 90/10% H₂O/(CD₃)₂CO. Notice the large upfield shifts of GlcOH3(α/β) in spectrum (c) compared to spectrum (d).

The data obtained in this work for lactose, trehalose and sucrose were in good agreement with those previous studies. The hydroxy protons in lactose had small $|\Delta\delta|$ (< 0.2 ppm) with the exception of GlcOH3(α , β) which had $|\Delta\delta|$ of 0.4 ppm (Figure 38) indicating spatial proximity to GalO5' and in agreement with the hydrogen bond between GlcOH3 and GalO5'. In trehalose, a $\Delta\delta$ of +0.21 for OH2 suggested proximity to another hydroxy group. According to previous simulation studies this might reflect an inter-residue, direct or water mediated, interaction with OH6 or a water bridged interaction between the two OH2 groups across the glycosidic linkage (Verde & Campen, 2011; Nunes *et al.*, 2010; Engelsen & Pérez, 2000; Conrad & de Pablo, 1999; Liu *et al.*, 1997). In sucrose the $|\Delta\delta|$ values were below 0.06 ppm.

In trehalose chemical exchange between OH3/4 and OH6 as well as between OH2 and OH6 were observed (Figure 39). Due to the symmetry of the molecule it was not possible to discriminate between intra- or interresidual interactions. According to simulation data from literature OH3/4–OH6 interactions can occur both intra- and inter-residually while OH2–OH6 interaction only occurs inter-residually (Sapir & Harries, 2011; Conrad & de Pablo, 1999; Liu *et al.*, 1997). In lactose only weak intraresidual exchange crosspeaks within galactose were observed (Figure 39).



Figure 39. ROESY $^1\mathrm{H}$ NMR spectra at –5 °C of (a) lactose 203 mg/mL and (b) trehalose 206 mg/mL.

In sucrose chemical exchange of hydroxy protons was observed between GlcOH2 and FruOH1' (Figure 40). In addition, a weak exchange was also observed between GlcOH2 and FruOH3' at high sugar concentration. The existence of both interactions at high concentration implies that two interconverting conformers exist in solution (Davies & Christofides, 1987).



Figure 40. ROESY ¹H NMR spectrum at -5 °C of sucrose 202 mg/mL, mixing time 80 ms.

In the trehalose/lactose/water ternary system the temperature coefficients decreased by ≤ 1 ppb/°C when increasing the sugar concentrations. Similar

effects were also measured in the binary systems. The ${}^{3}J_{CH,OH}$ did not change significantly except for GlcOH3 β , which decreased from 3.5 to 2.8 Hz. Small upfield shifts ($\Delta \delta_{mix}$) for the hydroxy protons of both lactose and trehalose were observed. The $|\Delta \delta_{mix}|$ increased as the sugar concentrations increased. The chemical shifts of the GlcOH3 α/β signals were however significantly less affected by changes in concentration as reflected by their smaller $|\Delta \delta_{mix}|$ (Figure 41).



Figure 41. Graphical representation of $\Delta \delta_{mix}$ values. $\Delta \delta mix$: δ (Trehalose/Lactose X + X mg/mL) – δ (Trehalose/Lactose 37 + 36 mg/mL), except for the 37 + 36 mg/mL mixture where $\Delta \delta mix$: δ (Trehalose/Lactose 37+36 mg/mL) – δ (Lactose 35 mg/mL)

Chemical exchange was observed between hydroxy protons of trehalose and lactose, (Figure 42). GlcOH3 in lactose display less chemical exchange with trehalose. To determine whether the effects measured on lactose hydroxy protons were specific for interaction with trehalose the sucrose/lactose/water ternary system was analyzed under analogous conditions.



Figure 42. ROESY ¹H NMR spectra at -5 °C of (a) trehalose/lactose 37/36 mg/mL mixture, mixing time 80 ms and (b) trehalose/lactose mixture 256/256 mg/mL, mixing time 100 ms.

Very similar results were obtained for the coupling constants, temperature coefficients and $\Delta \delta_{mix}$. In the ROESY spectra, the intramolecular chemical exchange crosspeak between GlcOH2 and FruOH1' in sucrose had the strongest intensity while only weak chemical exchange crosspeaks between sucrose and lactose were observed (Figure 43).



Figure 43. ROESY ¹H NMR spectra at -5 °C of (a) sucrose/lactose 178/181 mg/mL mixture, mixing time 40 ms and (b) sucrose/lactose mixture 178/181 mg/mL, mixing time 80 ms.

GlcOH3 of lactose was slightly less affected by the addition of trehalose or sucrose, attributed to its spatial proximity to GalO5' which restricts interaction with the surroundings. The data suggested that trehalose and sucrose did not significantly or differently affect the hydrogen bonding in lactose in the concentration range investigated.

The general upfield shift of hydroxy proton signals observed when increasing the sugar concentrations was attributed to reduced hydration due to slowed down water dynamics as shown in simulations with trehalose and proteins (Corradini *et al.*, 2013; Lins *et al.*, 2004). In support of these results is

the recent study by Lupi *et al.* who proposed that the concentration of hydroxy groups rather than the type of sugar is important for sugar-sugar and sugar-water interactions (Lupi *et al.*, 2012), at least for sugar concentrations $\leq 50\%$ (w/w). It has also been shown that at low concentrations the hydration of trehalose is similar to that of other organic solutes (Winther *et al.*, 2012).

At concentrations above 40% (w/w) where water retardation in sugar solutions is strongly increased and differentiation between sugars start (Lerbret *et al.*, 2011), the effect of trehalose and sucrose on the hydration and hydrogen bonding in lactose might be differentiated. However this could not be investigated due to the low temperatures required for NMR studies of hydroxy protons.

4 Concluding Remarks and Further Perspectives

The work presented in this thesis was aimed at the analysis of carbohydrate structures, properties and interactions using NMR spectroscopy. Much of the work was done within the PolyModE project and was focused on carrageenans, alginates and GAGs.

In paper I the structures of κ - and κ/μ -hybrid carrageenan oligosaccharides were investigated using NMR of hydroxy protons. It was found that in $\kappa\mu\kappa$ and $\kappa\mu\mu\kappa$ there is an interresidual hydrogen bond interaction between OH2_G4S and OH3_D6S across the 1 \rightarrow 4 linkage of the μ -carrabiose units. In the $\kappa\mu\mu\mu\kappa$ decasaccharide the NMR data suggested that this hydrogen bond is lost in the central μ -carrabiose unit. It cannot be excluded that what is observed at the oligosaccharide level is also present in the larger polymers. The existence of hydrogen bonds in κ/μ -carrageenan and hence a certain structural rigidity may infer that the μ -carrabiose units, mostly found in the non-helicoidal regions of the κ -carrageenan gel network have an underestimated role in the structural organization of the κ -carrageenan gel network. Studies of larger κ/μ -hybrid structures that more closely resemble polymeric structures would be interesting and could yield new information important for describing the structural implications of hybridity in carrageenans

In paper II a method for measuring the monomeric composition in intact alginate samples in solution was developed, using diffusion-edited NMR. Minimal sample preparation was required and the method was applicable to the screening of large sample sets. The experiment could also be employed to determine the M/G-ratio of intact alginate samples at temperatures below 50 °C allowing the utilization of NMR probes that cannot be used at high temperature, such as cryoprobes and certain HR-MAS probes. Diffusion-edited NMR experiments were also shown to be highly applicable to studies of biomolecules where buffer components and solvents produced NMR signals

that overlapped and obscured the signals of interest. The use of presaturation methods for water suppression will lead to an increase in intensity of the signals from M-residues in alginate. We have made similar observations with hyaluronic acid and other polysaccharides with large water retention capabilities. In the case of alginates the increase in signal intensities has been attributed to closer water association in the M-blocks due to a more linear and flexible structure (Salomonsen *et al.*, 2009a). Further investigation of the effect of presaturation of water on the NMR spectra of these types of polymers could help to understand, at an atomic level, how the polymers interact with water.

In paper III four novel GAG-sulfatases from the human gut commensal Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron were identified and their specificity determined. The enzyme BT3349 was found to be the first bacterial GAG endolytic-Osulfatase and was able to remove sulfate groups at the 4-position of Nacetylgalactosamine from disaccharides to polymers of CS/DS. The other three enzymes were strictly exolytic. Two of them, BT3333 and BT4656, were 6-Osulfatases specific for N-acetylgalactosamine and N-acetylglucosamine sugars respectively, thus participating in the degradation of CS/DS and HS. The fourth enzyme, BT1596, a Δ -4-hexuronate-2-O-sulfatase, active on HS and CS/DS oligo- and disaccharides produced from their respective polymers by lyase activity. The complementary set of sulfatase enzymes present in Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron enlighten that GAGs are likely metabolized by different, nonparallel pathways with common steps. Further characterization of the GAG degradation pathways of Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron could not only provide us with knowledge about the GAG metabolism of bacteria but also provide us with enzymatic tools for the production of tailored GAG structures.

In the fourth paper it was shown that trehalose and sucrose had small and similar effects on the hydration and hydrogen bonding interaction of lactose. The results suggested that it is the concentration of hydroxy groups that influences the sugar-sugar and sugar-water interactions at concentrations below 40% (w/w), more than the type of sugar.

References

- Aarstad, O.A., Tondervik, A., Sletta, H. & Skjak-Braek, G. (2012). Alginate Sequencing: An Analysis of Block Distribution in Alginates Using Specific Alginate Degrading Enzymes. *Biomacromolecules* 13(1), 106-116.
- Adams, B. & Lerner, L. (1992). Observation of Hydroxyl Protons of Sucrose in Aqueous-Solution - No Evidnce for Persistent Intramolecular Hydrogen-Bonds. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 114(12), 4827-4829.
- Adams, B. & Lerner, L.E. (1994). Effect of Stereochemistry on Hydroxyl Proton Chemical-Shifts and Coupling-Constants in Carbohydrates. *Magnetic Resonance in Chemistry* 32(4), 225-230.
- Akasaka, K. (1979). Inter-Molecular Spin Diffusion as a Method for Studying Macromolecule-Ligand Interactions. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance* 36(1), 135-140.
- Allison, S.D., Chang, B., Randolph, T.W. & Carpenter, J.F. (1999). Hydrogen bonding between sugar and protein is responsible for inhibition of dehydration-induced protein unfolding. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 365(2), 289-298.
- Arnold, J.T., Dharmatti, S.S. & Packard, M.E. (1951). Chemical Effects on Nuclear Induction Signals from Organic Compounds. J Chem Phys 19(4), 507-507.
- Aroulmoji, V., Mathlouthi, M., Feruglio, L., Murano, E. & Grassi, M. (2012). Hydration properties and proton exchange in aqueous sugar solutions studied by time domain nuclear magnetic resonance. *Food Chemistry* 132(4), 1644-1650.
- Batta, G. & Kover, K.E. (1999). Heteronuclear coupling constants of hydroxyl protons in a water solution of oligosaccharides: trehalose and sucrose. *Carbohydrate Research* 320(3-4), 267-272.
- Bax, A. & Davis, D.G. (1985). Practical aspects of two-dimensional transverse NOE spectroscopy. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance* 63(1), 207-213.
- Bekiroglu, S., Kenne, L. & Sandstrom, C. (2003). ¹H NMR studies of maltose, maltoheptaose, alpha-, beta-, and gamma-cyclodextrins, and complexes in aqueous solutions with hydroxy protons as structural probes. *Journal of Organic Chemistry* 68(5), 1671-1678.

- Bekiroglu, S., Kenne, L. & Sandstrom, C. (2004a). NMR study on the hydroxy protons of the Lewis X and Lewis Y oligosaccharides. *Carbohydrate Research* 339(14), 2465-2468.
- Bekiroglu, S., Sandstrom, A., Kenne, L. & Sandstrom, C. (2004b). Ab initio and NMR studies on the effect of hydration on the chemical shift of hydroxy protons in carbohydrates using disaccharides and water/methanol/ethers as model systems. Organic & Biomolecular Chemistry 2(2), 200-205.
- Bekiroglu, S., Sandstrom, C., Norberg, T. & Kenne, L. (2000). Hydroxy protons in conformational study of a Lewis b tetrasaccharide derivative in aqueous solution by NMR spectroscopy. *Carbohydrate Research* 328(3), 409-418.
- Belton, P.S. & Gil, A.M. (1994). IR and Raman Spectroscopic Studies of the Interaction of Trehalose with Hen Egg-White Lysozyme *Biopolymers* 34(7), 957-961.
- Benjdia, A., Martens, E.C., Gordon, J.I. & Berteau, O. (2011). Sulfatases and a Radical S-Adenosyl-L-methionine (AdoMet) Enzyme Are Key for Mucosal Foraging and Fitness of the Prominent Human Gut Symbiont, Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 286(29), 25973-25982.
- Bloch, F., Hansen, W.W. & Packard, M. (1946). Nuclear Induction. *Physical Review* 69(3-4), 127-127.
- Bosco, M., Segre, A., Miertus, S., Cesaro, A. & Paoletti, S. (2005). The disordered conformation of kappa-carrageenan in solution as determined by NMR experiments and molecular modeling. *Carbohydrate Research* 340(5), 943-958.
- Bothner-By, A.A., Stephens, R.L., Lee, J., Warren, C.D. & Jeanloz, R.W. (1984). Structure determination of a tetrasaccharide: transient nuclear Overhauser effects in the rotating frame. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 106(3), 811-813.
- Branca, C., Magazu, S., Maisano, G. & Migliardo, P. (1999a). Anomalous cryoprotective effectiveness of trehalose: Raman scattering evidences. *Journal of Chemical Physics* 111(1), 281-287.
- Branca, C., Magazu, S., Maisano, G. & Migliardo, P. (1999b). α,α-trehalose-water solutions. 3. Vibrational dynamics studies by inelastic light scattering. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B* 103(8), 1347-1353.
- Bundle, D.R., Baumann, H., Brisson, J.R., Gagne, S.M., Zdanov, A. & Cygler, M. (1994). Solution Structure of a Trisaccharide-Antibody Complex -Comparison of NMR Measurements with a Crystal-Structure. *Biochemistry* 33(17), 5183-5192.
- Campo, V.L., Kawano, D.F., Silva Jr, D.B.d. & Carvalho, I. (2009). Carrageenans: Biological properties, chemical modifications and structural analysis – A review. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 77(2), 167-180.
- Carlucci, M.J., Scolaro, L.A. & Damonte, E.B. (1999). Inhibitory action of natural carrageenans on herpes simplex virus infection of mouse astrocytes. *Chemotherapy* 45(6), 429-436.

- Carr, H.Y. & Purcell, E.M. (1954). Effects of Diffusion on Free Precession in Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Experiments. *Physical Review* 94(3), 630-638.
- Claasen, B., Axmann, M., Meinecke, R. & Meyer, B. (2005). Direct observation of ligand binding to membrane proteins in living cells by a saturation transfer double difference (STDD) NMR spectroscopy method shows a significantly higher affinity of integrin alpha(IIb)beta(3) in native platelets than in liposomes. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 127(3), 916-919.
- Conrad, P.B. & de Pablo, J.J. (1999). Computer Simulation of the Cryoprotectant Disaccharide α,α-Trehalose in Aqueous Solution. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry A* 103(20), 4049-4055.
- Corradini, D., Strekalova, E.G., Stanley, H.E. & Gallo, P. (2013). Microscopic mechanism of protein cryopreservation in an aqueous solution with trehalose. *Scientific Reports* 3.
- Crowe, J.H., Carpenter, J.F. & Crowe, L.M. (1998). The role of vitrification in anhydrobiosis. *Annual Review of Physiology* 60, 73-103.
- Crowe, L.M., Reid, D.S. & Crowe, J.H. (1996). Is trehalose special for preserving dry biomaterials? *Biophysical Journal* 71(4), 2087-2093.
- Davies, D.B. & Christofides, J.C. (1987). Comparison of intramolecular hydrogenbonding conformations of sucrose-containing oligosaccharides in solution and the solid state. *Carbohydrate Research* 163(2), 269-274.
- Davis, D.G. & Bax, A. (1985). Separation of Chemical Exchange and Cross-Relaxation Effects in Two Dimensional NMR-Spectroscopy *Journal of Magnetic Resonance* 64(3), 533-535.
- DeAngelis, P.L. (2012). Glycosaminoglycan polysaccharide biosynthesis and production: today and tomorrow. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 94(2), 295-305.
- DeAngelis, P.L., Liu, J. & Linhardt, R.J. (2013). Chemoenzymatic synthesis of glycosaminoglycans: Re-creating, re-modeling and re-designing nature's longest or most complex carbohydrate chains. *Glycobiology* 23(7), 764-777.
- Dehner, A. & Kessler, H. (2005). Diffusion NMR spectroscopy: Folding and aggregation of domains in p53. *Chembiochem* 6(9), 1550-1565.
- Draget, K.I., Smidsrod, O. & Skjåk-Braek, G. (2002). Alginates from algae. In: De Baets, S., et al. (Eds.) Polysaccharides II: Polysaccharides from Eukaryotes. pp. 215-246. Weinheim: Wiley-VCH; Vol. 6). ISBN 3-527-30227-1.
- Draget, K.I., Storker, T.M., Skjak-Braek, G. & Smidsrod, O. (2006). Alginates. In: Stephen, A.M., et al. (Eds.) Food polysaccharides and their applications. 2nd edition. ed. Boca Raton: CRC Press. ISBN 978-0-8247-5922-3.
- Ekdawi-Sever, N., de Pablo, J.J., Feick, E. & von Meerwall, E. (2003). Diffusion of sucrose and α,α-trehalose in aqueous solutions. *Journal of Physical Chemistry A* 107(6), 936-943.

- Engelsen, S.B. & Pérez, S. (2000). Unique similarity of the asymmetric trehalose solid-state hydration and the diluted aqueous-solution hydration. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B* 104(39), 9301-9311.
- Ertesvåg, H., Høidal, H.K., Schjerven, H., Svanem, B.I.G. & Valla, S. (1999). Mannuronan C-5-Epimerases and Their Application for in Vitro and in Vivo Design of New Alginates Useful in Biotechnology. *Metabolic Engineering* 1(3), 262-269.
- Esturau, N. & Espinosa, J.F. (2006). Optimization of diffusion-filtered NMR experiments for selective suppression of residual nondeuterated solvent and water signals from H-1 NMR spectra of organic compounds. *Journal* of Organic Chemistry 71(11), 4103-4110.
- Ferro, D.R., Provasoli, A., Ragazzi, M., Casu, B., Torri, G., Bossennec, V., Perly, B., Sinaÿ, P., Petitou, M. & Choay, J. (1990). Conformer populations of liduronic acid residues in glycosaminoglycan sequences. *Carbohydrate Research* 195(2), 157-167.
- Fraser, R.R., Kaufman, M., Morand, P. & Govil, G. (1969). Stereochemical Dependence of Vicinal H-C-O-H Coupling Constants. *Canadian Journal* of Chemistry 47(3), 403-409.
- Friebolin, H. (1991). Basic one- and two-dimensional NMR Spectroscopy. 1st. ed. Weinheim: VCH. ISBN 3-527-28108-8 (Weinheim), 0-89573-972-0 (New York).
- Genicot-Joncour, S., Poinas, A., Richard, O., Potin, P., Rudolph, B., Kloareg, B. & Helbert, W. (2009). The Cyclization of the 3,6-Anhydro-Galactose Ring of iota-Carrageenan Is Catalyzed by Two D-Galactose-2,6-Sulfurylases in the Red Alga *Chondrus crispus*. *Plant Physiology* 151(3), 1609-1616.
- Giernoth, R. & Bankmann, D. (2005). Application of diffusion-ordered spectroscopy (DOSY) as a solvent signal filter for NMR in neat ionic liquids. *European Journal of Organic Chemistry* (21), 4529-4532.
- Gomide Freitas, L.C., Cordeiro, J.M.M. & Garbujo, F.L.L. (1999). Theoretical studies of liquids by computer simulations: The water-acetone mixture. *Journal of Molecular Liquids* 79(1), 1-15.
- Gordon, S.L. & Wuethrich, K. (1978). Transient proton-proton Overhauser effects in horse ferrocytochrome c. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 100(22), 7094-7096.
- Grant, G.T., Morris, E.R., Rees, D.A., Smith, P.J.C. & Thom, D. (1973). Biological interactions between polysaccharides and divalent cations egg-box model. *Febs Letters* 32(1), 195-198.
- Grasdalen, H. (1983). High-Field ¹H-NMR Spectroscopy of Alginate -Sequential Structure and Linkage Conformations. *Carbohydrate Research* 118(JUL), 255-260.
- Grasdalen, H., Larsen, B. & Smidsrod, O. (1977). ¹³C-NMR Studies of Alginate. *Carbohydrate Research* 56(2), C11-C15.
- Grasdalen, H., Larsen, B. & Smidsrod, O. (1979a). PMR Study of the Composition and Sequence of Uronate Residues in Alginates. *Carbohydrate Research* 68(1), 23-31.

- Grasdalen, H., Larsen, B. & Smidsrod, O. (1981). ¹³C-NMR Studies of Monomeric Composition and Sequence in Alginate. *Carbohydrate Research* 89(2), 179-191.
- Grasdalen, H., Larsen, B. & Smidsrød, O. (1979b). A P.M.R. study of the composition and sequence of uronate residues in alginates. *Carbohydrate Research* 68(1), 23-31.
- Green, J.L. & Angell, C.A. (1989). Phase-Relations and Vitrification in Saccharide-Water Solutions and the Trehalose Anomaly. *Journal of Physical Chemistry* 93(8), 2880-2882.
- Guerrini, M., Raman, R., Venkataraman, G., Torri, G., Sasisekharan, R. & Casu, B. (2002). A novel computational approach to integrate NMR spectroscopy and capillary electrophoresis for structure assignment of heparin and heparan sulfate oligosaccharides. *Glycobiology* 12(11), 713-719.
- Guibet, M., Kervarec, N., Génicot, S., Chevolot, Y. & Helbert, W. (2006). Complete assignment of ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra of Gigartina skottsbergii λ -carrageenan using carrabiose oligosaccharides prepared by enzymatic hydrolysis. *Carbohydrate Research* 341(11), 1859-1869.
- Hahn, E.L. (1950). Spin Echoes. Physical Review 80(4), 580-594.
- Hakkarainen, B., Fujita, K., Immel, S., Kenne, L. & Sandstrom, C. (2005). ¹H NMR studies on the hydrogen-bonding network in mono-altro-βcyclodextrin and its complex with adamantane-1-carboxylic acid. *Carbohydrate Research* 340(8), 1539-1545.
- Hakkarainen, B., Kenne, L., Lahmann, M., Oscarson, S. & Sandström, C. (2007). NMR study of hydroxy protons of di- and trimannosides, substructures of Man-9. *Magnetic Resonance in Chemistry* 45(12), 1076-1080.
- Harvey, J.M., Symons, M.C.R. & Naftalin, R.J. (1976). Proton Magnetic Resonance Study of Hydration of Glucose. *Nature* 261(5559), 435-436.
- Haug, A., Larsen, B. & Smidsrod, O. (1966). A study of the constitution of alginic acid by partial acid hydrolysis. *Acta Chemica Scandinavica* 20(1), 183-190.
- Haug, A., Larsen, B. & Smidsrod, O. (1967a). Studies on the Sequence of Uronic Acid Residues in Alginic Acid. Acta Chemica Scandinavica 21(3), 691-704.
- Haug, A., Myklestad, S., Larsen, B. & Smidsrod, O. (1967b). Correlation between chemical structure and physical properties of alginate. *Acta Chemica Scandinavica* 21(3), 768-778.
- Holtan, S., Zhang, Q.J., Strand, W.I. & Skjak-Braek, G. (2006). Characterization of the hydrolysis mechanism of polyalternating alginate in weak acid and assignment of the resulting MG-oligosaccharides by NMR spectroscopy and ESI-mass spectrometry. *Biomacromolecules* 7(7), 2108-2121.
- Hottiger, T., Devirgilio, C., Hall, M.N., Boller, T. & Wiemken, A. (1994). The Role of Trehalose Synthesis for the Acquisition of Thermotolerance in Yeast. 2. Physiological Concentrations of Trehalose Increase the Thermal Stability of Proteins *In vitro European Journal of Biochemistry* 219(1-2), 187-193.

- Hwang, T.L. & Shaka, A.J. (1995). Water Suppression That Works -Excitation Sculpting Using Arbitrary Wave-Forms and Pulsed-Field Gradients. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance Series A* 112(2), 275-279.
- Iannilli, E., Tettamanti, E., Galantini, L. & Magazu, S. (2001). An integrated quasielastic light-scattering, pulse-gradient-spin-echo study on the transport properties of α , α -trehalose, sucrose, and maltose deuterium oxide solutions. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B* 105(48), 12143-12149.
- Iwahashi, H., Obuchi, K., Fujii, S. & Komatsu, Y. (1995). The Correlative Evidence Suggesting That Trehalose Stabilizes Membrane Structure in the Yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Cellular and Molecular Biology 41(6), 763-769.
- Ivarsson, I., Sandstrom, C., Sandstrom, A. & Kenne, L. (2000). ¹H NMR chemical shifts of hydroxy protons in conformational analysis of disaccharides in aqueous solution. *Journal of the Chemical Society-Perkin Transactions 2* (10), 2147-2152.
- Jeener, J., Meier, B.H., Bachmann, P. & Ernst, R.R. (1979). Investigation of Exchange Processes by 2-Dimensional NMR-Spectroscopy. *Journal of Chemical Physics* 71(11), 4546-4553.
- Johnson, C.S. (1999). Diffusion ordered nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy: principles and applications. *Progress in Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy* 34(3-4), 203-256.
- Jouanneau, D., Guibet, M., Boulenguer, P., Mazoyer, J., Smietana, M. & Helbert, W. (2010). New insights into the structure of hybrid κ-/μ-carrageenan and its alkaline conversion. *Food Hydrocolloids* 24(4), 452-461.
- Kamerling, J.P., Boons, G.-J., Lee, Y.C., Suzuki, A., Taniguchi, N. & Voragen, A.G.J. (2007). Comprehensive glycoscience: from chemistry to systems biology. 1st edition. ed. Amsterdam: Elsevier Ltd. ISBN 978-0-444-52746-2.
- Karplus, M. (1963). Vicinal Proton Coupling in Nuclear Magnetic Resonance. Journal of the American Chemical Society 85(18), 2870-2871.
- Keeler, J. (2011). Understanding NMR Spectroscopy [Elektronisk resurs]. 2nd. ed. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons. ISBN 9781119964933.
- Klein, J., Meinecke, R., Mayer, M. & Meyer, B. (1999). Detecting binding affinity to immobilized receptor proteins in compound libraries by HR-MAS STD NMR. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 121(22), 5336-5337.
- Knutsen, S.H. & Grasdalen, H. (1992). The Use of Neocarrabiose Oligosaccharides With Different Length and Sulfate Substitution as Model Compounds for ¹H-NMR spectroscopy. *Carbohydrate Research* 229(2), 233-244.
- Knutsen, S.H., Myslabodski, D.E., Larsen, B. & Usov, A.I. (1994). A Modified System of Nomenclature for Red Algal Galactans. *Bot. Mar.* 37(2), 163-169.
- Kroon, J., Kroon-Batenburg, L.M.J., Leeflang, B.R. & Vliegenthart, J.F.G. (1994). Intramolecular versus intermolecular hydrogen bonding in solution. *Journal of Molecular Structure* 322, 27-31.

- Kumar, A., Wagner, G., Ernst, R.R. & Wuthrich, K. (1981). Buildup Rates of the Nuclear Overhauser Effect Measured by Two-Dimensional Proton Magnetic-Resonance Spectroscopy -Implications for Studies of Protein Conformation. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 103(13), 3654-3658.
- Lamba, D., Segre, A.L., Glover, S., Mackie, W., Sheldrick, B. & Perez, S. (1990). Molecular Structure of 3-O-(3,6-Anhydro-α-D-Galactopyranosyl)-β-D-Galactopyranose (Neocarrabiose) in the Solid-State and in Solution -An Investigation by X-ray Crystallography, NMR Spectroscopy and Molecular Mechanics Calculations *Carbohydrate Research* 208, 215-230.
- Lambert, J.B. & Mazzola, E.P. (2004). *Nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy : an introduction to principles, applications, and experimental methods.* Upper Saddle River, N.J.: Pearson Education. ISBN 0-13-089066-9 (alk. paper).
- Langeslay, D.J., Young, R.P., Beni, S., Beecher, C.N., Mueller, L.J. & Larive, C.K. (2012). Sulfamate proton solvent exchange in heparin oligosaccharides: Evidence for a persistent hydrogen bond in the antithrombin-binding pentasaccharide Arixtra. *Glycobiology* 22(9), 1173-1182.
- Lerbret, A., Affouard, F., Bordat, P., Hedoux, A., Guinet, Y. & Descamps, M. (2011). Slowing down of water dynamics in disaccharide aqueous solutions. *Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids* 357(2), 695-699.
- Lerbret, A., Bordat, P., Affouard, F., Descamps, M. & Migliardo, F. (2005a). How homogeneous are the trehalose, maltose, and sucrose water solutions? An insight from molecular dynamics Simulations. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B* 109(21), 11046-11057.
- Lerbret, A., Bordat, P., Affouard, F., Guinet, Y., Hedoux, A., Paccou, L., Prevost, D. & Descamps, M. (2005b). Influence of homologous disaccharides on the hydrogen-bond network of water: complementary Raman scattering experiments and molecular dynamics simulations. *Carbohydrate Research* 340(5), 881-887.
- Leslie, S.B., Israeli, E., Lighthart, B., Crowe, J.H. & Crowe, L.M. (1995). Trehalose and Sucrose Protect Both Membranes and Proteins in Intact Bacteria During Drying *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 61(10), 3592-3597.
- Lin, J. & Frey, P.A. (2000). Strong Hydrogen Bonds in Aqueous and Aqueous–Acetone Solutions of Dicarboxylic Acids: Activation Energies for Exchange and Deuterium Fractionation Factors. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 122(45), 11258-11259.
- Lindhorst, T.K. (2007). *Essential of carbohydrate chemistry and biochemistry*. 3., completely rev. and enl. ed. ed. Weinheim: Wiley-VCH. ISBN 978-3-527-31528-4.
- Lins, R.D., Pereira, C.S. & Hünenberger, P.H. (2004). Trehalose–protein interaction in aqueous solution. *Proteins: Structure, Function, and Bioinformatics* 55(1), 177-186.

- Liu, M., Nicholson, J.K. & Lindon, J.C. (1996). High-Resolution Diffusion and Relaxation Edited One- and Two-Dimensional ¹H HMR Spectroscopy of Biological Fluids. *Analytical Chemistry* 68(19), 3370-3376.
- Liu, M.L., Mao, X.A., Ye, C.H., Huang, H., Nicholson, J.K. & Lindon, J.C. (1998). Improved WATERGATE pulse sequences for solvent suppression in NMR spectroscopy. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance* 132(1), 125-129.
- Liu, Q., Schmidt, R.K., Teo, B., Karplus, P.A. & Brady, J.W. (1997). Molecular Dynamics Studies of the Hydration of α,α-Trehalose. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 119(33), 7851-7862.
- Lubineau, A. & Bonnaffe, D. (1999). Access to molecular diversity in glycosaminoglycans: Combinatorial synthesis of eight chondroitin sulfate disaccharides. *European Journal of Organic Chemistry* (10), 2523-2532.
- Lundqvist, L.C., Jam, M., Barbeyron, T., Czjzek, M. & Sandstrom, C. (2012). Substrate specificity of the recombinant alginate lyase from the marine bacteria Pseudomonas alginovora. *Carbohydr Res* 352, 44-50.
- Lupi, L., Comez, L., Paolantoni, M., Perticaroli, S., Sassi, P., Morresi, A., Ladanyi, B.M. & Fioretto, D. (2012). Hydration and Aggregation in Mono- and Disaccharide Aqueous Solutions by Gigahertz-to-Terahertz Light Scattering and Molecular Dynamics Simulations. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B* 116(51), 14760-14767.
- Maaheimo, H., Kosma, P., Brade, L., Brade, H. & Peters, T. (2000). Mapping the binding of synthetic disaccharides representing epitopes of chlamydial lipopolysaccharide to antibodies with NMR. *Biochemistry* 39(42), 12778-12788.
- Mackie, W. (1971). Semi-Quantitative Estimation of Composition of Alginates by Infra-Red Spectroscopy. *Carbohydrate Research* 20(2), 413-415.
- Magazu, S., Maisano, G., Migliardo, P., Tettamanti, E. & Villari, V. (1999). Transport phenomena and anomalous glass-forming behaviour in α,αtrehalose aqueous solutions. *Molecular Physics* 96(3), 381-387.
- Martens, E.C., Chiang, H.C. & Gordon, J.I. (2008). Mucosal Glycan Foraging Enhances Fitness and Transmission of a Saccharolytic Human Gut Bacterial Symbiont. *Cell Host & Microbe* 4(5), 447-457.
- Mayer, M. & James, T.L. (2002). Detecting Ligand Binding to a Small RNA Target via Saturation Transfer Difference NMR Experiments in D2O and H2O. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 124(45), 13376-13377.
- Mayer, M. & Meyer, B. (1999). Characterization of ligand binding by saturation transfer difference NMR spectroscopy. *Angewandte Chemie-International Edition* 38(12), 1784-1788.
- Mayer, M. & Meyer, B. (2001). Group epitope mapping by saturation transfer difference NMR to identify segments of a ligand in direct contact with a protein receptor. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 123(25), 6108-6117.
- Meyer, B. & Peters, T. (2003). NMR Spectroscopy techniques for screening and identifying ligand binding to protein receptors. *Angewandte Chemie-International Edition* 42(8), 864-890.

- Michel, G., Nyval-Collen, P., Barbeyron, T., Czjzek, M. & Helbert, W. (2006). Bioconversion of red seaweed galactans: a focus on bacterial agarases and carrageenases. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 71(1), 23-33.
- Morris, K.F. & Johnson, C.S. (1992). Diffusion-Ordered Two-Dimensional Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 114(8), 3139-3141.
- Nunes, S.C.C., Lopes Jesus, A.J., Joao Moreno, M. & Eusebio, M.E.S. (2010). Conformational preferences of α, α -trehalose in gas phase and aqueous solution. *Carbohydrate Research* 345(14), 2048-2059.
- Ogg, R.J., Kingsley, P.B. & Taylor, J.S. (1994). WET, A T-1-Insensitive and B-1-Insensitive Water-Suppression Method for In-Vivo Localized ¹H-NMR Spectroscopy. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance Series B* 104(1), 1-10.
- Ostgaard, K., Knutsen, S.H., Dyrset, N. & Aasen, I.M. (1993). Production and Characterization of Guluronate Lyase from *Klebsiella pneumoniae* for Applications in Seaweed Biotechnology *Enzyme and Microbial Technology* 15(9), 756-763.
- Pempe, E.H., Burch, T.C., Law, C.J. & Liu, J. (2012). Substrate specificity of 6-Oendosulfatase (Sulf-2) and its implications in synthesizing anticoagulant heparan sulfate. *Glycobiology* 22(10), 1353-1362.
- Penman, A. & Sanderso.Gr (1972). Method for Determination of Uronic Acid Sequence in Alginates. *Carbohydrate Research* 25(2), 273-282.
- Pervin, A., Gallo, C., Jandik, K.A., Han, X.J. & Linhardt, R.J. (1995). Preparation and Structural Characterization of Large Heparin-Derived Oligosaccharides. *Glycobiology* 5(1), 83-95.
- Petitou, M., Lormeau, J.C., Perly, B., Berthault, P., Bossennec, V., Sie, P. & Choay, J. (1988). Is There a Unique Sequence in Heparin for Interaction with Heparin Cofactor-II - Structural and Biological Studies of Heparin-Derived Oligosaccharides *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 263(18), 8685-8690.
- Piotto, M., Saudek, V. & Sklenar, V. (1992). Gradient-Tailored Excitation for Single-Quantum NMR-Spectroscopy of Aqueous-Solutions. *Journal of Biomolecular NMR* 2(6), 661-665.
- PolyModE PolyModE Project: The Magic Ingredients of Molecular Chefs...or...The Language of Sugars. [online] Available from: http://polymode.eu/en/project.html. [Accessed 2013-09-11].
- Poppe, L., Dabrowski, J., Vonderlieth, C.W., Koike, K. & Ogawa, T. (1990a). 3-Dimensional Structure of the Oligosaccharide Terminus of Globotriaosylceramide and Isoglobotriaosylceramide in Solution -A Rotating Frame NOE Study Using Hydroxyl-Groups as Long-Range Sensors in Conformational-Analysis by ¹H-NMR Spectroscopy. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 189(2), 313-325.
- Poppe, L., Stuikeprill, R., Meyer, B. & Vanhalbeek, H. (1992). The Solution Conformation of Sialyl-Alpha(2-6)-Lactose Studied by Modern NMR Techniques and Monte-Carlo Simulations. *Journal of Biomolecular NMR* 2(2), 109-136.

- Poppe, L. & Vanhalbeek, H. (1991). Nuclear-Magnetic-Resonance of Hydroxyl and Amido Protons of Oligosaccharides in Aqueous-Solution -Evidence for a Strong Intramolecular Hydrogen-Bond in Sialic-Acid Residues. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 113(1), 363-365.
- Poppe, L. & Vanhalbeek, H. (1992a). NOE Measurements on Carbohydrates in Aqueous-Solution by Double-Selective Pseudo-3D TOCSY-ROESY and TOCSY-NOESY -Application to Gentiobiose. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance* 96(1), 185-190.
- Poppe, L. & Vanhalbeek, H. (1992b). The Rigidity of Sucrose -Just an Illusion. Journal of the American Chemical Society 114(3), 1092-1094.
- Poppe, L. & Vanhalbeek, H. (1994). NMR-Spectroscopy of Hydroxyl Protons in Supercooled Carbohydrates *Nature Structural Biology* 1(4), 215-216.
- Poppe, L., Vonderlieth, C.W. & Dabrowski, J. (1990b). Conformation of the Glycolipid Globoside Head Group in Various Solvents and in the Micelle-Bound State. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 112(21), 7762-7771.
- Prechoux, A., Genicot, S., Rogniaux, H. & Helbert, W. (2013). Controlling Carrageenan Structure Using a Novel Formylglycine-Dependent Sulfatase, an Endo-4S-iota-Carrageenan Sulfatase. *Marine Biotechnology* 15(3), 265-274.
- Price, W.S. (1997). Pulsed-field gradient nuclear magnetic resonance as a tool for studying translational diffusion .1. Basic theory. *Concepts in Magnetic Resonance* 9(5), 299-336.
- Purcell, E.M., Torrey, H.C. & Pound, R.V. (1946). Resonance Absorption by Nuclear Magnetic Moments in a Solid. *Physical Review* 69(1-2), 37-38.
- Rampp, M., Buttersack, C. & Ludemann, H.D. (2000). c,T-dependence of the viscosity and the self-diffusion coefficients in some aqueous carbohydrate solutions. *Carbohydrate Research* 328(4), 561-572.
- Rinaudo, M. (2008). Main properties and current applications of some polysaccharides as biomaterials. *Polymer International* 57(3), 397-430.
- Rohfritsch, P.F., Frank, M., Sandstrom, C., Kenne, L., Vliegenthart, J.F.G. & Kamerling, J.P. (2007). Comparative ¹H NMR and molecular modeling study of hydroxy protons of beta-D-Galp-(1 -> 4)-beta-D-GlcpNAc-(1 -> 2)alpha-D-Manp-(1 -> 0)(CH2)(7)CH3 analogues in aqueous solution. *Carbohydrate Research* 342(3-4), 597-609.
- Romeo, T. & Preston, J.F. (1986). Depolymerization of alginate by an extracellular alginate lyase from a marine bacterium: substrate specificity and accumulation of reaction products. *Biochemistry* 25(26), 8391-8396.
- Sakugawa, K., Ikeda, A., Takemura, A. & Ono, H. (2004). Simplified method for estimation of composition of alginates by FTIR. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science* 93(3), 1372-1377.
- Salomonsen, T., Jensen, H.M., Larsen, F.H. & Engelsen, S.B. (2009a). The Quantitative Impact of Water Suppression on NMR Spectra for Compositional Analysis of Alginates. (Magnetic Resonance in Food Science: Challenges in a Changing World. ISBN 978-0-85404-117-6.
- Salomonsen, T., Jensen, H.M., Larsen, F.H., Steuernagel, S. & Engelsen, S.B. (2009b). Alginate monomer composition studied by solution- and solidstate NMR - A comparative chemometric study. *Food Hydrocolloids* 23(6), 1579-1586.
- Salomonsen, T., Jensen, H.M., Stenbaek, D. & Engelsen, S.B. (2008). Chemometric prediction of alginate monomer composition: A comparative spectroscopic study using IR, Raman, NIR and NMR. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 72(4), 730-739.
- Sampedro, J.G., Cortes, P., Munoz-Clares, R.A., Fernandez, A. & Uribe, S. (2001). Thermal inactivation of the plasma membrane H⁺-ATPase from *Kluyveromyces lactis*. Protection by trehalose. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Protein Structure and Molecular Enzymology* 1544(1-2), 64-73.
- Sampedro, J.G., Guerra, G., Pardo, J.P. & Uribe, S. (1998). Trehalose-mediated protection of the plasma membrane H⁺-ATPase from *Kluyveromyces lactis* during freeze-drying and rehydration. *Cryobiology* 37(2), 131-138.
- Sampedro, J.G. & Uribe, S. (2004). Trehalose-enzyme interactions result in structure stabilization and activity inhibition. The role of viscosity. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry* 256(1-2), 319-327.
- Sandstrom, C., Baumann, H. & Kenne, L. (1998a). NMR spectroscopy of hydroxy protons of 3,4-disubstituted methyl alpha-D-galactopyranosides in aqueous solution. *Journal of the Chemical Society-Perkin Transactions 2* (4), 809-815.
- Sandstrom, C., Baumann, H. & Kenne, L. (1998b). The use of chemical shifts of hydroxy protons of oligosaccharides as conformational probes for NMR studies in aqueous solution. Evidence for persistent hydrogen bond interaction in branched trisaccharides. *Journal of the Chemical Society-Perkin Transactions 2* (11), 2385-2393.
- Sandstrom, C., Magnusson, G., Nilsson, U. & Kenne, L. (1999). Comparative ¹H NMR study of hydroxy protons in galabioside and its S-linked 4- thiodisaccharide analogue in aqueous solution. *Carbohydrate Research* 322(1-2), 46-56.
- Sapir, L. & Harries, D. (2011). Linking Trehalose Self-Association with Binary Aqueous Solution Equation of State. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B* 115(4), 624-634.
- Sasisekharan, R., Raman, R. & Prabhakar, V. (2006). Glycomics approach to structure-function relationships of glycosaminoglycans. *Annual Reviews* of Biomedical Engineering 8, 181-231.
- Sheng, S.Q. & Vanhalbeek, H. (1995). Evidence for a Transient Interresidue Hydrogen Bond in Sucrose in Aqueous Solution Obtained by Rotating-Frame Exchange NMR Spectroscopy Under Supercooled Conditions. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 215(2), 504-510.
- Sklenar, V., Piotto, M., Leppik, R. & Saudek, V. (1993). Gradient-Tailored Water Suppression for ¹H-¹⁵N HSQC Experiments Optimized to Retain Full Sensitivity. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance Series A* 102(2), 241-245.

- Smallcombe, S.H., Patt, S.L. & Keifer, P.A. (1995). WET solvent suppression and its applications to LC NMR and high-resolution NMR spectroscopy. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance Series A* 117(2), 295-303.
- Smidsrod, O., Haug, A. & Larsen, B. (1966). Influence of pH on Rate of Hydrolysis of Acidic Polysaccharides Acta Chemica Scandinavica 20(4), 1026-1034.
- Smidsrod, O., Larsen, B., Painter, T. & Haug, A. (1969). The Role of Intramolecular Autocatalysis in Acid Hydrolysis of Polysaccharides Containing 1,4-linked Hexuronic Acid. Acta Chemica Scandinavica 23(5), 1573-1580.
- Stejskal, E.O. & Tanner, J.E. (1965). Spin Diffusion Measurements: Spin Echoes in the Presence of a Time Dependent Field Gradient. *Journal of Chemical Physics* 42(1), 288-292.
- Stokke, B.T., Smidsrod, O., Bruheim, P. & Skjakbraek, G. (1991). Distribution of uronate residues in alginate chains in relation to alginate gelling properties. *Macromolecules* 24(16), 4637-4645.
- Stortz, C.A. (2006). MM3 potential energy surfaces of trisaccharide models of lambda-, mu-, and v-carrageenans. *Carbohydrate Research* 341(15), 2531-2542.
- Stortz, C.A. & Cerezo, A.S. (2000). Conformational analysis of neocarrabiose and its sulfated and/or pyruvylated derivatives using the MM3 force-field. *Journal of Carbohydrate Chemistry* 19(9), 1115-1130.
- Stortz, C.A. & Cerezo, A.S. (2003). MM3 potential energy surfaces of trisaccharides. II. Carrageenan models containing 3,6-anhydro-Dgalactose. *Biopolymers* 70(2), 227-239.
- Thomas, F., Lundqvist, L.C.E., Jam, M., Jeudy, A., Barbeyron, T., Sandström, C., Michel, G. & Czjzek, M. (2013). Comparative Characterization of Two Marine Alginate Lyases from Zobellia galactanivorans Reveals Distinct Modes of Action and Exquisite Adaptation to Their Natural Substrate. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 288(32), 23021-23037.
- Tobacman, J.K. (2001). Review of harmful gastrointestinal effects of carrageenan in animal experiments. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 109(10), 983-994.
- Ueda, K., Saiki, M. & Brady, J.W. (2001). Molecular dynamics simulation and NMR study of aqueous neocarrabiose 4(1)-sulfate, a building block of kappa-carrageenan. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B* 105(36), 8629-8638.
- Wagner, G. & Wuthrich, K. (1979). Truncated driven nuclear overhauser effect (TOE). A new technique for studies of selective ¹H-¹H overhauser effects in the presence of spin diffusion. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance (1969)* 33(3), 675-680.
- Valla, S., Li, J.-p., Ertesvåg, H., Barbeyron, T. & Lindahl, U. (2001). Hexuronyl C5-epimerases in alginate and glycosaminoglycan biosynthesis. *Biochimie* 83(8), 819-830.

- van de Velde, F. & De Ruiter, G.A. (2002). Carrageenan. In: De Baets, S., et al. (Eds.) Polysaccharides II: Polysaccharides from Eukaryotes. pp. 247-276. Weinheim: Wiley-VCH; Vol. 6). ISBN 3-527-30227-1.
- van de Velde, F., Knutsen, S.H., Usov, A.I., Rollema, H.S. & Cerezo, A.S. (2002). ¹H and ¹³C high resolution NMR spectroscopy of carrageenans: application in research and industry. *Trends in Food Science & Technology* 13(3), 73-92.
- van Zijl, P.C.M. & Moonen, C.T.W. (1990). Complete water suppression for solutions of large molecules based on diffusional differences between solute and solvent (DRYCLEAN). *Journal of Magnetic Resonance (1969)* 87(1), 18-25.
- Vanhalbeek, H. & Poppe, L. (1992). Conformations and Dynamics of Glycoprotein Oligosaccharides as Studied By ¹H-NMR Spectroscopy. *Magnetic Resonance in Chemistry* 30, S74-S86.
- Verde, A.V. & Campen, R.K. (2011). Disaccharide Topology Induces Slowdown in Local Water Dynamics. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B* 115(21), 7069-7084.
- Widmalm, G. (2013). A perspective on the primary and three-dimensional structures of carbohydrates. *Carbohydrate Research* 378(0), 123-132.
- Wight, T.N. (1999). 3.08 Biosynthesis of Proteoglycans. In: Editors-in-Chief: Otto, M.-C., et al. (Eds.) Comprehensive Natural Products Chemistry. pp. 161-177. Oxford: Pergamon. ISBN 978-0-08-091283-7.
- Winther, L.R., Qvist, J. & Halle, B. (2012). Hydration and Mobility of Trehalose in Aqueous Solution. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B* 116(30), 9196-9207.
- Viskov, C., Just, M., Laux, V., Mourier, P. & Lorenz, M. (2009). Description of the chemical and pharmacological characteristics of a new hemisynthetic ultra-low-molecular-weight heparin, AVE5026. *Journal of Thrombosis* and Haemostasis 7(7), 1143-1151.
- Wu, D.H., Chen, A.D. & Johnson, C.S. (1995). An Improved Diffusion-Ordered Spectroscopy Experiment Incorporating Bipolar-Gradient Pulses. *Journal* of Magnetic Resonance Series A 115(2), 260-264.
- Zhang, W., Zhao, H., Carmichael, I. & Serianni, A.S. (2009). An NMR investigation of putative interresidue H-bonding in methyl alphacellobioside in solution. *Carbohydrate Research* 344(12), 1582-1587.
- Zhou, G.F., Sun, Y.P., Xin, H., Zhang, Y.N., Li, Z. & Xu, Z.H. (2004). In vivo antitumor and immunomodulation activities of different molecular weight Lambda-Carrageenans from Chondrus ocellatus. *Pharmacological Research* 50(1), 47-53.

Acknowledgements

As "the chairman of the board" would have sung: And now the end is here, and so I face the final curtain... But before the final curtain call I would like to thank some people, people that have been important during my time as a PhD-student.

Au première mon superviseur Corine Sandström, merci beaucoup pour tout, il y a cinq ans magnifiques. Tu es un chercheur et superviseur magnifique et très dévoué. Tu prends toujours le temps de répondre à des questions ou partager vos connaissances scientifiques, rendant facile à se développer comme un chercheur. Tu es toujours joyeux et c'est un plaisir de travailler avec toi (I hope it is readable, it has been a while since I had to write anything in French. Anyway, thanks again for five great years.).

I would also like to give many thanks to my assistant supervisor Anders Broberg for helping out when ever needed and always finding time.

The late Lennart Kenne who left us unexpectedly and too early, deserves a lot of thanks for being himself and sharing his scientific knowledge and experience.

Mina gruppkollegor, rumskamrater och doktorandkompanjoner Gustav Nestor och Lena Lundqvist ni ska ha många tack. Roliga, vänskapliga, utbildande och ibland jobbiga timmar har spenderats tillsammans på kontoret, på labbet, i köket, på Logen, på Syltan, på flygplatser, på kurser och konferenser och så vidare. Det hade inte varit lika roligt och lärorikt utan er.

Pierre Andersson har ju faktiskt också varit rumskamrat och doktorandkompanjon en gång i tiden. Vi har också hunnit med en massa skoj, inte så många resor eller konferenser men desto mer innebandy och öldrickande. David Hansson, den nybakade doktorn, har också varit med på en del äventyr såsom den beryktade Carey-Sundberg kursen och givetvis även innebandy och öldrickande.

Andra doktorander, eller tidigare doktorander, som jag delat mycket skoj med, på och i anslutning till jobbet, är Christina Nord, Shahin Norbakhsh, Johan Mähler, Kai Wilkinson, Tobias Bölscher, Josephina Werner, Lars Eklund, Olesya Nikonova, Natallia Torapava och Johan Bankefors. En del (relativt) nya doktorander finns ju faktiskt på institutionen, Frida, Martin och Elisabeth, ni ska såklart också ha tack för att ni livar upp stämningen.

Tack också till den numer pensionerade Rolf Andersson för hjälp med krånglande NMR apparatur och roliga stunder på innebandy planen. När vi ändå talar om innebandy så förtjänar Daniel Lundberg ett omnämnande för sin passion för fredagsaktiviteten nummer ett, samt ett aldrig sinande förråd av ordvitsar.

Många andra jobbar eller har jobbat på institutionen och ni har alla bidragit till att göra tiden som doktorand mycket lärorik och spännande på all sätt: Vadim, Ingmar, Gulaim, Anke, Jan, Suresh, Gunnar, Peter, Anders S (tack för extra korrekturläsning), Elsa, Bernt, Mattias, Ali, Shrestha, Yina och Seda.

Vår eminenta administratör, Sonja Jansson, tack för tålamodet med ständigt felaktiga reseräkningar och hjälp med andra administrativa göromål. Sonjas företrädare Lena Johansson stod även hon för ovärderlig hjälp inom samma områden.

A lot of people have passed through our department over the years and I have probably forgot to mention people that deserve to be mentioned, thanks a lot to all of you as well.

Of course I also need to thank all the great people that were a part of the PolyModE project. We had some amazing times, both science wise and otherwise, and we got to see some great places all over Europe. Thank you all very much, it was a great experience!

Tro det eller ej så har jag haft ett liv utanför universitet också och har där kunnat känna mig som en vanlig människa, eller i alla fall som en bandyspelare. Tack till alla före detta och nuvarande lagkamrater i Söderfors GoIF och UNIK.

Min familj, mamma, pappa, Calle och Johan, förtjänar alla tack de kan få. Ni här alltid trott på mig och stöttat mig även om ni inte fattat vad jag hållit på med. Min lillebror Johan sa en gång (för länge sedan...) "Eric han jobbar väl på det där bonn-universitetet", och det stämde ju faktiskt.

Det bästa har jag, som brukligt, sparat till sist. Tack Tereza för att du finns, för all kärlek, för allt stöd och för att du ger mig så himla mycket. Jag älskar dig, du är fantastisk.